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Serabi has established the first hard-rock mining operation 
in the Tapajos region of northern Brazil. Exploiting a series 
of high-grade narrow veins, the Company is forecasting 
production of some 40,000 gold equivalent ounces 
in 2008. Near mine exploration programmes have 
been stepped up and assuming a successful outcome 
of these over the next 12 months, the Company is 
targeting future expansion of production to between 
80,000 and 100,000 ounces per annum.

An extensive portfolio of a further 267,000 hectares 
of exploration land holdings provides the platform for 
further significant growth.
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HigHligHts 

  significant expansion of exploration programme underway 
following discovery of new mineralisation and identification 
of key exploration tool

  introduction of new slim-size mining fleet to reduce mining 
widths and improve mined ore grades

  Continued strong metal prices provide direct benefit to 
operating margins

  Helicopter-borne geophysical survey indicates eight large 
anomalies in close proximity to the Palito mine

  New parallel vein structures evaluated during the year 
and included in mining plans for 2008

 Milled tonnage increased by 47% year-on-year

  strong balance sheet with cash holdings of Us$18.5 million  
at year-end

		Steep dipping, narrow gold/
copper veins averaging 
+10g per tonne

		Series of parallel structures 
hosted within a currently 
defined 700 
metre‑wide corridor

		Strike lengths of 
up to one kilometre

		Mineralisation remains 
open at depth

		Daily processing throughputs 
expected to rise to over 
500tpd through 2008 with 
target rates of some 200,000 
tonnes per annum

		Mine production flexibility 
increased through 
introduction of additional 
parallel vein structures 
into 2008 plans

		Represents a 100 square 
kilometre district around 
the Palito mine

		Near mine exploration 
effort expanded from 
mid‑2007

		Geophysical electromagnetic 
techniques particularly 
suited to identifying 
occurrences of 
mineralised structures

		6,000 hectare 
helicopter‑borne 
geophysical survey flown 
in January 2008 identified 
eight large anomalies 
for further evaluation

		A 25,000 metre drill 
programme is scheduled 
for 2008

		Serabi holds exploration 
licences over a further 
267,000 hectares in 
the Tapajos

		Systematic evaluation 
of each of the tenement 
areas is on‑going

		The geology of the 
region is varied with 
good potential for large 
disseminated, near surface 
orebodies within the 
volcanic host rocks 
at the north‑west end of 
the Tocantinzinho trend

		Overall an under‑explored 
area but with substantial 
historical artisanal 
gold production

iNvestMeNt areas

Palito Mine JaRDiM Do oURo taPaJos Regional
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1999
Serabi first enters Brazil

2002
serabi acquires the Palito Mine

2004
treatment of garimpo tailings establishes 
initial cash flow

2005
First shipments of gold copper concentrate 
from underground trial mining operations 
using shrink stoping technique

2005
serabi shares listed on aiM (May 2005) 
– iPO raises UK£8 million (gross) 

2005
average production rates 2005 – 
mining 160 tpd / milling 159 tpd

2006
initial decline access completed allowing 
mechanised operations to commence

2006
share placement raises £2.6 million 
(april 2006)

2006
Commercial production declared 
1 October 2006

2006
average production rates 2006 – 
mining 414 tpd / milling 322 tpd 

2007
labour intensive shrink stope activities 
cease and move entirely to mechanised 
mining methods

2007
share placement raises £12.5 million 
in part to finance accelerated and 
enhanced exploration programme

2007
exploration activity increased. 
electromagnetic surveys deployed 
as additional exploration tool for 
targeting potential new orebodies

2007
average production rates 2007 – 
mining 632 tpd / milling 475 tpd

COrPOrate MilestONes

sUPPly OF gOld (Five-year average 2003 – 2007)

Mine Production 60%* (2,209 tonnes)
* net of hedging

recycled gold (scrap) 26% (952 tonnes) Net Central bank sales 14% (515 tonnes)

Jewellery 68% (2,497 tonnes) investment 19% (703 tonnes) industry 13% (474 tonnes)

deMaNd FOr gOld (Five-year average 2003 – 2007)

	Mine production is currently in decline falling 6.4% in the last six years

 Major gold producers are struggling to maintain their reserve base

 a new middle class is being established in the emerging asian economies

		ETF holdings have created a new investment demand for over 850 tonnes over the last five years

gOld MarKet Overview

(source: World Gold Council, www.gold.org)
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AchiEvEmEnTS And FuTurE oBjEcTivES

2006 aCHieVeMents

	 Commercial Production declared 
October 2006

  Mining and milling rates 
increased to over 450 tpd  
by year-end

  Phase 1 and 2 of decline 
completed, trackless mining 
and long-hole stoping underway

		infrastructure and capital  
projects to support near-term 
production targets completed

2007 aCHieVeMents

	 expansion of CiP plant 
commenced to increase 
gold recoveries

	 decline ramp extended to 
the 135 mrl (90 metres below 
surface) – five levels in 
development by year-end

		identify and order new equipment 
to overcome dilution issues 
experienced during the year

  inclusion of new parallel vein 
structures into 2008 mine planning

2008 oBJeCtiVes

	 Production of some 40,000 
gold equivalent ounces

		implement mining over smaller 
widths with new equipment to 
increase grade

		Commence development 
and production from the 
Chico da santa and Palito 
west areas

		identify sources of oxide ore  
as a means to improve projected 
production levels

Palito Mine

2006 aCHieVeMents

	 geological support 
facilities expanded

	Four surface drill rigs operational

2007 aCHieVeMents

	 introduction of contractor to 
enhance existing drilling capability

		confirmation of electromagnetics 
as important exploration tool for 
the Palito/Jardim do Ouro district

2008 oBJeCtiVes

	 establish on-site laboratory 
as primary facility for resource  
and reserve calculations

eXPloRation anD DeVeloPMent

2006 aCHieVeMents

		assessment of targets 
reaches advanced stage 
and drilling commences

2007 aCHieVeMents

	 6,000 metre helicopter-borne 
vteM survey undertaken  
following up on successful  
ground eM survey

2008 oBJeCtiVes

	  Prioritise and drill new targets 
highlighted by vteM survey  
with objective of establishing  
a 0.7 to 1.0 million ounce reserve

JaRDiM Do oURo (neaR Mine eXPloRation)

2006 aCHieVeMents

	  exploration starts on  
regional projects

	 	Preliminary drill programmes 
completed on Pombo

2007 aCHieVeMents

	  Base-level mapping and  
sampling undertaken over 
priority tenement areas

2008 oBJeCtiVes

	  Prioritise tenements for future 
exploration activity and release 
some land holdings or seek Jvs  
on other areas

	 	Prepare for initial drilling 
programmes by year-end

taPaJos (Regional eXPloRation)

2006 aCHieVeMents

  global PMZ resource increased 
with 50% increase in gold per 
vertical metre

		introduction of underground 
drilling improves definition 
of mining resources

2008 oBJeCtiVes

	 identify additional resource within 
the PMZ up to 200 metres beyond 
existing resource boundary and 
testing on-strike extensions

		test strike extension of Jatoba  
and other new zones in the  
Chico da santa area

		improve capability of 
resource drilling from 
within the mine workings

		Continue step-out drilling to 
identify and evaluate additional 
parallel vein structures

Palito Mine ResoURCes
2007 aCHieVeMents

  On-going programme of resource 
definition and in-fill drilling
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It has been a challenging year for Serabi. Following on from 
the achievement of commercial production at the Palito Mine 
and other operational and exploration successes during 2006, 
the events of 2007 have served to remind us of the issues and 
obstacles that face any growing company. The Company has 
suffered from lower production levels than expected brought 
about by unplanned mining dilution and subsequent delays 
in getting essential equipment needed to rectify the problem. 
I am pleased to say the resolution of last year’s mining problems 
is now in hand, which should greatly improve production and 
operating profitability when combined with today’s burgeoning 
metal prices. 

The Palito Mine and the surrounding exploration area remains 
a very good asset. The Company has strong cash resources and 
over the course of the last year made a number of key personnel 
changes that have strengthened the operational experience of 
the management team. While lower production from the Palito 
mine during 2007 was a disappointment, there were a number 
of positive events which bode well for the future of Serabi. 
Furthermore, the impact of lower gold production was in part 
mitigated by significantly increased gold and copper prices over 
the period and we continued to generate positive cash flow from 
the core mining operation. 

Mike Hodgson, who joined the Company early in 2007 as 
Technical Director and who then took on the role of Chief Executive 
in September, provides more detail on the issues that led to last 
year’s production shortfall and the solutions that he and his team 
have put in place to overcome these in the future. It was frustrating 
for us all last year that once we had identified the solutions, 
we then had to endure several months waiting for the delivery 
of the equipment, unfortunately a now common industry theme. 
Thankfully, the deployment of this equipment is now taking place 
and we are confident that this will result in a solid production 
recovery over the coming year.

Notwithstanding last year’s production challenges, there were 
many positives in 2007. Mined volumes and plant throughput 
continued to improve compared with 2006, while gold recovery 

CHairMaN’s stateMeNt

‘‘
We believe the Tapajos is set to emerge as an 
important new region for gold exploration and 
production and with its long-term presence, 
the Company is well placed to benefit.

sUMMary OF CHairMaN’s stateMeNt

  Solid production recovery expected 
over the coming year

  Mined volumes and plant 
throughput continued to 
improve against prior year’s

  Discoveries of new high-grade 
mineralisation over the Chico 
da Santa and Palito West prospects

  Mine plan for 2008 envisages 
mining of seven structures, 
an increase from three structures 
mined in 2007

  Exploration programme around 
Palito has the objective to identify 
one million ounces
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from the process plant was maintained above 90%. We hope to 
improve these recoveries by a further 2% through expansion of 
the CIP plant, which is scheduled for completion in June 2008. 
Finally, management has worked hard at continuing to contain 
costs and improve reliability throughout the operation. 

The future growth of Serabi is dependent on exploiting its 
extensive project portfolio and, in this respect, the Company made 
good progress during 2007 continuing into 2008. A highlight of this 
programme is the expansion of the near‑mine resource potential, 
with discoveries of high‑grade mineralisation over the Chico 
da Santa and Palito West prospects. Underground development 
of both of these areas has commenced. The addition of these and 
other new mining areas will enable simultaneous development of 
several mining sections, thus increasing production flexibility and 
optimising grade potential. Whilst mining mainly took place during 
2007 on three mineralised structures within the Palito Main Zone 
(‘PMZ’), the mine plan for 2008 is based on exploiting seven 
structures from the PMZ and other areas. 

Much of the exploration success was driven by the results 
of a ground‑based, geophysical electromagnetic (‘EM’) survey 
undertaken last year. Building on these results and other data, 
a 6,000 hectare helicopter‑borne EM survey was completed during 
January 2008, covering Palito and the surrounding area. An initial 
review of the results is highly encouraging, with eight significant 
targets identified. Although the use of EM only indicates the presence 
of the conducting sulphide mineralisation that typically hosts the 
gold deposits at Palito, the success achieved with this technique 
provides an important breakthrough for use in future exploration 
of the district. The results to date are very exciting and provide 
a basis of priority for follow‑up evaluation during 2008 as part 
of a planned 25,000 metre drill programme. 

It was following the earlier success in 2007, and with this 
work plan in mind, that we raised £12.5 million through a share 
placement in July 2007. Combined with operating cash flow, 
these funds provide a strong foundation for the Company’s future 
growth strategy and has allowed us to accelerate development 
of the Company, in particular, the exploration programmes in and 

around Palito and over our other tenements in the Tapajos. 
We anticipate that detailed evaluation of the wider Palito area 
over the next twelve months can be successful in establishing 
a mineable reserve capable of supporting the next stage 
of production expansion. With the objective of identifying 
one million ounces, such an outcome could potentially support 
an operation of some 100,000 ounces per annum at Palito. 
Allowing for completion of feasibility studies and construction, 
we would envisage such an expansion being in place during 2010, 
with full capacity achieved the following year.

Outside of Palito and the near‑mine (Jardim do Ouro) exploration, 
we are undertaking a complete screening of all of our remaining 
projects. Given the extent of artisanal workings and the historical 
gold production across the region, these tenements are considered 
to be highly prospective and are found within varying geological 
environments. We are particularly keen on the Pizon and Modelo 
projects which, like Palito, are located on or close to the regional 
Tocatinzinho trend. Here, the geology is volcanic in nature and we 
believe has the potential to host low‑grade, large tonnage, bulk 
mineable‑style deposits.

During the year, interest in the Tapajos gold region continued 
to increase, as demonstrated by the inaugural Tapajos Gold 
Convention taking place in Itaituba in which Serabi played an 
important role. The Tapajos is the second largest gold province 
in Brazil but has surprisingly escaped extensive systematic 
exploration to date. Against a background where senior 
international gold companies are urgently seeking new resource 
potential, we believe the Tapajos is set to emerge as an important 
new region for gold exploration and production. In this event, 
with its long‑term presence and as currently the only operator of a 
hard-rock mine in the area, the Company is well placed to benefit. 

As noted earlier, the strength of commodity prices over the last year 
mitigated some of the effects of lower production. Most observers 
consider that this strength will continue, with both gold and copper 
prices already achieving all‑time record highs during the early part 
of 2008. Fundamentals such as declining primary supplies, US Dollar 
weakness, record high oil prices, emerging inflation and global 

Palito mine
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financial and economic uncertainty have created a very positive 
environment for gold prompting strong demand, which looks set 
to continue for the foreseeable future. 

However, it should be noted these developments have brought 
with them pressures on industry costs globally. The combination of 
escalating fuel, raw materials, equipment and labour costs, together 
with the industry production decline, has contributed to an increase 
of reported average world gold production costs from US$272 per 
ounce in 2005 to US$395 per ounce for 2007 an increase of 45% 
during which time the US Dollar gold price has risen by some 91%. 

An additional factor has been the significant weakening of the 
US Dollar, especially against nations such as Brazil who have 
benefitted from robust economic growth. As a result, the Brazilian 
Real has appreciated against the US Dollar by some 33% over this 
same period between 2005 and 2007. This adversely impacts on 
our operating costs when translated to US Dollars and means the 
gold price in Brazilian Real terms improved over the same period 
by only 27%. However, it is seems likely that the Brazilian economy 
will have long-term difficulty living with such a strong exchange 
rate and as such, current opinion is that the Brazilian Real‑US 
Dollar exchange rate will stabilise and could even weaken during 
the course of 2008.

Against this background of strong commodity markets, there 
is increasing interest in the mineral deposits of Brazil. Many 
old projects are being revisited and new investments sought. 
Serabi is continually evaluating new opportunities but has, to date, 
been unable to identify sufficiently attractive financial returns from 
such projects compared with investment into its existing project 
portfolio. Whilst we will continue to review suitable opportunities, 
our primary near‑term focus is to achieve improved production 
performance at the Palito Mine and build value through the 
establishment and exploitation of additional resources close 
to the Company’s established operating facilities. 

I look forward to an improved year for Serabi during 2008. 
We believe that the changes now being made to the mining 
method at Palito, accompanied by the introduction of specialised 
new equipment and development of new orebodies, will result in 
significant production improvements. The Company has a strong 
balance sheet, positive cash flow, attractive projects and a clear 
strategy to take it forward and increase the value of its assets. 
I am confident that our exploration programme will continue 
to show success, which will lead to an expansion of resources 
providing a basis for meaningful production growth in the future.

acknowledgements
Mike Hodgson’s promotion to Chief Executive in 2007 was driven 
by the desire of Bill Clough, the co‑founder of Serabi and still its 
major shareholder, to step away from the day‑to‑day running of the 
Company. I am pleased that Bill has remained active with Serabi 
in his role as Director of New Business and know that without his 
drive, commitment and infectious enthusiasm, the Company could 
not have developed to become what it is today. It was a pleasure 
to work alongside him during those formative years and everyone 
involved with Serabi owes him a great debt of thanks for his 
guidance and leadership.

Having co‑founded the Company with Bill in 1999, 
General Manager Sergio Aquino also decided to move on last 
year in order to pursue other interests. Sergio’s knowledge and 
experience of the Tapajos was also essential to the Company’s 
early development for which we are very grateful. 

Finally, dealing with the challenges and difficulties we have faced 
has required dedication on the part of our employees. I would 
like to thank them all, past and present, for their commitment 
to Serabi and their hard work. 

GrAhAm roBErTS
ChAiRMAN

CHairMaN’s stateMeNt CONtiNUed
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It would be fair to say that my first year with Serabi has 
brought with it many challenges but I am now confident that 
the Company is following a path that will allow it to develop the 
Palito Mine and its exploration land holdings in an efficient and 
value‑enhancing manner. 

Joining the Company initially as Technical Director early in 2007, 
my primary focus was the day‑to‑day Palito mining operations 
and it has only been since my appointment as Chief Executive 
at the start of September that I have had closer management 
involvement in the exploration activities. I am pleased to say 
that on both fronts the Company is well placed for success 
during 2008. 

OPeratiONs – PalitO MiNe
It was clear the most pressing issue during 2007 was to find 
solutions to the reduction of mine grades that occurred through 
unexpected excessive mining dilution as the Company switched 
to fully mechanised mining. It is important to emphasise that these 
lower‑mined grades were not the result of lower resource grades 
but difficulties encountered with the mining method and its 
implementation. In summary, during 2007 some 175,000 tonnes of 
ore were mined and processed. Without the dilution we would have 
expected to process the same gold content from 140,000 tonnes of 
ore (with a corresponding grade increase). Furthermore, in this event 
approximately 35,000 tonnes of plant capacity would have been 
available for treatment of additional ‘higher‑grade’ feed.

As 2006 drew to a close we were exhausting ore from within the 
upper levels of the hill at the Palito Mine. This area had previously 
been the principal ore source and was mined using the more 
selective, yet labour intensive manual shrink stoping method. 
Despite the success of the earlier (but smaller) operations, the 
Company took the view that shrink stope mining would not be the 
best method for the long‑term, deeper development of the mine. 
It would lack the capability to generate the optimum levels of 
production and cash flow. Despite last year’s problems encountered 

sUMMary OF CHieF exeCUtive’s review

  Mined development widths 
to be reduced from 1.8 metres 
to 1.2 metres

  Long-hole stoping using reduced 
level spacings to be employed 
in 2008

  First two mini-scoops and new 
jumbo drill operational. Two 
further mini-scoops and one 
further jumbo to be delivered 
in quarter two 2008

  Exploration budget to be increased 
to up to US$9 million in 2008, 
up from US$6 million in 2007

  VTEM survey has identified eight 
large (PMZ size) targets for 
further evaluation

  Five significant anomalies 
identified by stream sediment 
sampling in the Pizon tenements

CHieF exeCUtive’s OPeratiONal review

‘‘
With the first two of the mini-scoops now 
operational, I am confident that the mining issues 
at Palito will soon be behind us. By the fourth 
quarter, with all equipment deployed, production 
should reach peak levels.
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CHieF exeCUtive’s OPeratiONal review CONtiNUed

OPeratiONs – PalitO MiNe continued
with the change, we believe the fundamental decision was 
correct and long‑hole stoping remains the preferred option for 
the steep‑dipping, narrow‑vein orebodies that are found at Palito.

A shift to a mechanised mining method will always bring with it an 
element of increased dilution, mostly as a result of having to blast 
larger volumes. However, it quickly became apparent that the levels 
of dilution being experienced were greater than had been planned. 
Immediately, the Company sought ways to rectify the situation 
and investigated a number of methods that might eliminate waste 
material arising from unintentional dilution of the high‑grade veins 
before processing. As the production is presently determined by mill 
capacity, improvement in the quality of ore feed is the principal way 
to increase gold production. 

In response to excessive ore dilution during stoping, the introduction 
of a variant of the cut-and-fill method helped increase stope grades but 
low productivity never made it a long‑term option. A hybrid method 
was subsequently adopted, whereby the mining of stopes was started 
using selective cut-and-fill stoping and then completed by long-hole 
stoping. This demonstrated that long‑hole stoping could work very well 
but required closer spaced mining levels. With respect to ore dilution 
from development, the size of the mining equipment used to remove 
the broken ore blasted from the galleries meant a reduction in the 
width of the ore blasts was required to reduce such dilution. However, 
this was not possible until more specialised slim‑sized equipment could 
be sourced and introduced to the operation.

In parallel with these developments and as a possible alternative 
solution to grade dilution, studies were on‑going to assess the 
technical and economic viability of separating ore and waste 
material brought to surface prior to processing, effectively 
‘pre‑concentrating’ the ore and increasing the feed grade. 
However, it became apparent towards the year‑end that 

whilst a technical success, a workable solution on a commercial 
scale could not be achieved.

During 2006 when the mine was laid out for mechanised mining, 
there was a limited choice of suitable slim‑size equipment 
available. Serabi therefore purchased a mining fleet that was 
reasonably available at the time, taking into account lead times 
on delivery and support. One effect of continuing improvements in 
commodity prices is that equipment manufacturers are responding 
to increased demand for a wider range of equipment as mining 
companies re‑evaluate their operations and new projects. In the 
absence of pre‑concentrating the ore after mining, it became 
necessary to find ways to eliminate as much as possible the waste 
at source. The result was a search for smaller equipment designed 
for mechanised mining but which permitted greater selectivity. 
In August 2007 orders were placed to acquire two one metre wide 
scoop‑trams (mini‑scoops), initially to be deployed to mine the 
development drives. It is currently well understood in the industry 
that equipment lead times have become a major problem for 
mining companies and, despite contrary assurances, we also 
experienced a significant delay in the delivery of this equipment. 
The two units ordered in August 2007 were finally delivered to 
site in April 2008. 

A further two mini‑scoops have since been ordered, along 
with two mini‑jumbo drilling rigs (one for stoping and one for 
development). These are all scheduled for delivery to the mine 
during the second quarter of 2008.

The introduction of these mini‑jumbos and mini‑scoops will result 
in a dramatic reduction in dilution by making it possible to reduce 
the width of the mined development face from approximately 
1.8 metres to 1.2 metres. As some 70% of production in 2008 will 
continue to come from development, the reduction in dilution will 
be pivotal in achieving significant improvements of mining grades. 

  2007 2006

  Unit Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YeaR-enD YeAR‑eND

Total mined tonnes 55,251 61,567 56,903 56,926 230,647 151,239 
(per day)  (614) (677) (619) (619) (632) (414)

Ore mined tonnes 42,217 50,058 45,754 41,148 179,177 132,089 
(per day)  (469) (550) (497) (447) (491) (362)

Milled tonnes 42,705 45,245 45,054 40,481 173,485 117,618 
(per day)  (475) (497) (490) (440) (475) (322)

Head grade grams/tonne 6.52 5.94 5.36 5.55 5.84 9.40

Recovery % 89.58 90.93 90.04 89.79 90.10 91.40

Gold ounces 8,044 7,888 7,021 5,989 28,942 32,498

Copper tonnes 125.60 127.00 96.20 110.50 459.20 568.90

Gold equivalent ounces 9,301 9,418 8,176 7,069 33,963 39,197

PalitO gOld MiNe  
OPeratiNg sUMMary 2007
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4.

exPlOratiON
KEy oBjEcTivES
Understand and quantify the full potential around the established mine area and expedite 
the transition of exploration success into production ounces.

advance regional exploration properties to next stage of evaluation.

MetHOdOlOgy
introduction of ground-based, eM geophysical surveys to accelerate targeting of potential 
mineralised structures, with follow-up geochemistry.

increased drilling capability.

implement systematic geochemical programmes over regional exploration land holdings.

resUlts
eM survey results have proved an excellent exploration tool in identifying the occurrence 
of the sulphide mineralisation within which the bulk of gold found around the Palito mine 
is hosted.

Ground-based Em results identified the existence of parallel vein structures located between 
the PMZ and the original Chico da santa prospect and depth extensions of the Palito Main 
Zone itself.

geochemical programmes carried out over the Pizon and Modelo prospects are continuing 
but a number of geochemical anomalies are being identified, warranting further evaluation.

OUtlOOK
A helicopter-borne Em survey was performed in january 2008 and initial results have identified 
eight large anomalies which are being further evaluated with the most prospective being 
drill-tested during 2008.

the objective of further work is to identify within a 6000 hectare area around Palito the 
presence of one or more Palito-style deposits which in aggregate could support a future 
production rate of 80,000 to 100,000 ounces per annum.

regional exploration programmes will be continued to increase the value of the exploration 
tenements and identify serabi’s next mineral district.

1. Drilling rods being fitted

2. Exploration samples being assayed

3. Drill core being logged

4.  Use of drilling contractors has 
expanded capacity

1. 2.

3.
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mined from development and that mined from stoping, 
though stoped ore is sourced from areas of higher resource 
and reserve confidence.

Notwithstanding these issues, in many respects the Palito Mine 
has continued to operate extremely well during the past year. Much 
effort has been made to improve reliability across all areas of the 
operation. Our fleet of mine equipment will be supplemented during 
2008 with four new mini‑scoops, two new smaller jumbos and later 
in the year we plan to replace the mine trucks with two specialised 
narrower vehicles, thus permitting a reduction in ramp dimensions. 

In the meantime, every effort has been made to increase the 
efficiency and availability of each piece of equipment. Within 
the plant a systematic overhaul of each of the mills is being 
undertaken with the final overhaul plant for completion in quarter 
three 2008. This is increasing efficiency and performance. 
Whilst mainly comprised of second‑hand equipment, the plant 
itself continues to perform extremely well and its simplicity is a 
significant benefit given the location of the mine. During the year it 
continued to deliver recoveries in excess of 90%, notwithstanding 
achieving a year‑on‑year increase in throughput of 47% with no 
new capacity added during the period.

An expansion of the CIP section of the plant is scheduled for 
completion in June 2008 and is expected to result in an overall 
improvement in gold recovery of about 2% through increased 
residence times. The project has a forecast payback of less than 
six months. We also expect the revised CIP layout to reduce 
related consumable costs through improved efficiencies.

In 2007, the Company announced changes to senior management 
in Brazil which aimed to strengthen the operational experience of the 
team. Our new Managing Director in Brazil, Wanderlan Almeida has 
been building steadily on the team of experienced professionals to 
ensure that the Company is well equipped to meet its future goals.

CHieF exeCUtive’s OPeratiONal review CONtiNUed

OPeratiONs – PalitO MiNe continued
The surplus capacity in the plant that will result from reducing 
dilution can then be met with additional high‑grade feed. 

The next area to address was improvement of the grade recovered 
from the stopes. Earlier mining experience at Palito and geotechnical 
studies have indicated that the host granite rock is very competent 
and stable. However the introduction of blasting of stope panels 
of twelve metres in height unexpectedly resulted in localised sidewall 
collapse. This unintentional dilution, combined with the intentional 
dilution encountered by drilling an ore vein exhibiting natural pinch 
and swell characteristics, also led to higher volumes but lower 
grade material being mined. The result was stoping widths up to 
2.0 metres rather than the planned 1.2 metres width. To overcome 
this problem, the development drives are now being established 
at nine metre vertical spacing rather than 15 metres. The resulting 
reduction of stope heights to six metres from twelve metres will 
reduce dilution significantly and as a result we would expect to 
improve mined grades by some 30% from within the stopes.

Changes within an underground mine cannot be made quickly. 
Not only is the industry experiencing long lead times on the 
delivery of equipment but once the mining of a particular level 
has commenced, the development and subsequent stoping 
of this level needs to be completed. It is common practice for 
an underground mine to have several levels of development 
underway at any time, to provide operational flexibility and 
maximise efficiency of the equipment fleet and personnel usage. 
During 2008 Palito will be in a period of transition as we complete 
old developments and establish new mining areas conforming 
to the new parameters. A consequence of reducing the spacing 
between the levels from 15 metres to nine metres is the increase 
in the level of development activity required. With stoping heights 
reduced more ore will be produced from development. However, 
as the objective of reducing development widths to 1.2 metres is 
achieved, there will be little difference between the quality of ore 
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develOPMeNt
KEy oBjEcTivES
identify new ore sources located in close proximity to the mine to provide additional mining 
flexibility and increase mine life.

evaluate other advanced exploration opportunities for near-term production potential.

MetHOdOlOgy
step-out drilling of the Chico da santa, Palito west and ruari’s ridge prospects.

testing strike extensions of the Palito Main Zone to north and south.

expand drilling capability through the introduction of contractors to supplement 
in-house resources.

resUlts
Ore resources in the Chico da santa area have been expanded through the delineation 
of additional mineralised structures lying parallel and in close proximity to the PMZ.

Ore resources at Palito west, which were considered a high-grade but small tonnage 
structure have been extended both along strike and at depth, considerably increasing 
the potential of this prospect.

A mineable oxide ore resource has been identified at ruari’s ridge – further evaluation 
of the underlying hard rock resource will be undertaken in 2008.

a total of 27,494 metres of drilling have been completed over the Palito mine area during 
2007 compared with 15,253 metres in 2006.

OUtlOOK
Ore mined from both the Chico da santa, Palito west and ruari’s ridge deposits is included 
in the 2008 mine plan.

whilst providing additional ore sources for the process plant, the ability to open up new 
areas of mine development allows for numerous mine faces to be available at any time 
increasing production flexibility and maximising utilisation of the mining fleet.

additional ore sources are expected to be encountered in further parallel structures as 
these areas are developed further.

1. First two mini-scoops are now operational

2. Mini-jumbo for use in development

3.  Heli-borne EM survey completed in 
January 2008 

4. Foundations laid for new CIP tanks

4.

2.

1. 3.
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OPeratiONs – PalitO MiNe continued
The last months of 2007 and early 2008 have been a challenging 
and sometimes frustrating period. The mining problems were 
well understood and the solutions identified but while waiting for 
suitable equipment to implement those solutions, the Company 
was unable to do much more than to minimise the ongoing impact 
of excessive dilution. With the first two of the mini-scoops now 
operational, I expect to see the benefits very quickly manifesting 
themselves and I am confident that the mining issues at Palito will soon 
be behind us. There should be steady improvement over the remainder 
of 2008 and it is expected that by the fourth quarter, with all the 
equipment deployed, production should reach peak levels.

exPlOratiON aNd develOPMeNt
In contrast to the mining disappointments last year, the exploration 
programme yielded a number of potentially important highlights 
during the period. At the start of 2007, Chris Spurway joined 
the Company as Exploration Manager, having spent the three 
preceeding years in Brazil as Exploration Manager for Troy Resources.

The exploration programme should be considered across three distinct 
areas: (i) Palito Mine itself (ii) the near‑mine exploration and (iii) the 
wider regional programmes. 

The aims of 2008 are:

  to establish for the first time a mineable reserve at Palito 
supported by an updated geological resource;

  to understand the potential of the near‑mine area to host 
satellite/look‑alike deposits that could be developed as mines 
and in the process unlock the value of the Jardim do Ouro 
mineral district around Palito; and

  to complete a full screening of all of Serabi’s tenements with the 
objective of establishing the next mineral district in the Tapajos.

CHieF exeCUtive’s OPeratiONal review CONtiNUed

PAliTO exPlORATiON AND NeAR‑TeRM DevelOPMeNT
The early months of 2007 were geared towards preliminary 
evaluation of properties adjacent to the main mine deposit 
at Palito, the Palito Main Zone (‘PMZ’). The presence of 
mineralisation to the north‑east of the PMZ had already been 
established at Chico da Santa and an area to the south‑west, 
known as Palito West. Limited drilling of both these prospects 
had previously been undertaken, indicating that these had the 
potential to become small satellite mining operations but were 
thought to be of limited tonnage. There were also sufficient 
indications of the potential within the environs of Palito, referred 
to as Jardim do Ouro, to demonstrate that a series of mineralised 
structures parallel to the PMZ might exist over a much wider area.

Pursuing this and following up on a strong gold‑in‑soil geochemical 
anomaly in the Ruari’s Ridge area, the exploration team identified an 
area of weathered mineralisation (gossan) outcropping adjacent to 
the south‑west end of the Palito airstrip. A trenching programme 
followed, which identified the presence of a high-grade mineralised 
structure extending over 600 metres strike at surface. The discovery 
of this surface outcropping mineralisation is significant as it 
demonstrated for the first time the potential for new prospects not 
previously exploited by the garimpeiros. Follow-up drilling confirmed 
the existence of three or four sub‑parallel zones of gold‑copper 
mineralisation, with an inferred strike extension of some 950 
metres along strike and 300 metres vertically.

At the same time a drill programme was initiated on the Chico 
da Santa area, to the north‑east of the PMZ. This successfully 
identified two additional vein structures in the area, bringing the 
total number of newly discovered mineralised structures to five.

‘‘
The plant continued to deliver recoveries 
in excess of 90% and year-on-year increase 
in throughput of 47%.
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MiNiNg
KEy oBjEcTivES
introduce mechanised mining activities to Palito to improve mining rates and productivity 
per man.

identify and introduce solutions to minimise effects of dilution through the transition from 
manual, selective, low productivity mining to mechanised productive methods.

MetHOdOlOgy
Options to pre-concentrate run of mine material prior to processing have been evaluated.

evaluation of alternative mining methodologies to increase selectivity and reduce 
unplanned dilution.

resUlts
while technically successful to date, pre-concentrating the ore is not commercially viable 
at current mine volumes. this remains under consideration for the future if ore volumes 
increase through the development of further satellite deposits.

smaller-sized mining equipment has been ordered and begun to arrive to minimise dilution 
of the mined ore whether from stoping or development activities.

sub-level spacing has been reduced to permit better control over the geometry 
of the orebody.

OUtlOOK
improvements to drill and blasting techniques show potential to reduce unplanned dilution 
significantly and improve ore feed grades from stoping activity.

New mechanised slim-sized narrow vein mining equipment is beginning to arrive on site 
during quarter two 2008 and will allow for a reduction in minimum mining width of some 
33% resulting in improved ore feed grade from development activity.

The increase in fleet size will provide opportunity to process selectively only the best 
available ore through the plant and stockpile lower grade material.

1. Long-hole drilling

2. Mill over-hauls are increasing plant capacity

3. A haul truck emerges from the portal

4. Miners finishing their shift at Palito 

2.1.

4.

3.
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CHieF exeCUtive’s OPeratiONal review CONtiNUed

exPlOratiON aNd develOPMeNt continued
At the start of 2007 a ground‑based, electromagnetic induction 
(‘EM’) geophysical survey was undertaken over selected parts of 
the Palito property. EM operates on the principal of identifying zones 
of electrical conductivity. In the Palito area, the gold occurs mainly 
within sulphide mineralised structures that possess greater 
conductivity than the surrounding granite host rock. The 2007 survey 
was a follow‑up to an earlier programme undertaken in 2005, the 
results of which could now be correlated with the occurrence of drill 
identified zones of mineralisation. The method was therefore shown 
to be an excellent target generator in locating potential gold‑bearing 
mineralised structures of the Palito style, though it should 
be stressed that the presence of sulphides does not necessarily 
mean the presence of gold in commercially viable concentrations. 

The 2007 EM survey was centred around the Chico da Santa 
area and across the southern extension of the PMZ. From the 
results, it was apparent that there existed a number of additional, 
potentially mineralised conductors. This led to a major revision 
of the geology and the identification of new drill targets in the 
area. Further drill programmes were undertaken, culminating 
in the announcement in January 2008 that a further three highly 
mineralised structures had been discovered between the PMZ 
and the previously identified Chico da Santa structures. Results 
from this exploration programme were sufficiently encouraging for 
the decision to be taken to commence underground development 
of a cross‑cut from the existing PMZ mine workings. This would 
intersect these new veins and allow on‑lode development to 
commence, enabling further detailed evaluation of these structures 
from underground. The location of these new veins in such close 
proximity to the PMZ mine has accelerated the opportunity to 
introduce these new ore sources into future mine plans. Mine 
development of the principal vein (Jatoba) is already underway, with 
good results. Furthermore, this work has reduced the initial cost of 
developing the wider Chico da Santa area, which we had previously 
considered would require independent access from the surface. 

In light of the initial success at Ruari’s Ridge, attention turned to the 
nearby Palito West prospect. In considering the future exploitation 
of Ruari’s Ridge, it was anticipated that a separate decline access 
would be required that could also serve the Palito West orebody. 
As a result, a drill programme was initiated at Palito West, 
targeting a potential 200 metres along strike and 150 metres depth. 
Positive results followed and the drill programme was extended. 
We now consider that Palito West mineralisation is of sufficient size 
and quality in its own right that a ramped cross‑cut has commenced 
from the PMZ that will intersect the Palito West ore zone at a 
depth of approximately 70 metres below surface. This will allow 
development and mining concurrently of the mine levels both above 
and below the intersection with the ramp. Again, this would also 
increase the number of mining faces available, providing the 
best opportunity to maximise ore grades delivered to the plant. 
The access ramp to Palito West is currently scheduled for 
completion in quarter four of 2008, with initial ore development 
of the Palito West deposit to commence immediately thereafter.

This change in priorities has resulted in further evaluation of the 
Ruari’s Ridge prospect being deferred. However, an assessment 
of the near‑surface oxide resource at this prospect has been 
undertaken and a mine plan for this ore will be completed shortly, 
with mining anticipated to commence during quarter two of 2008. 
Further work on the sulphide resource at Ruari’s Ridge will be 
undertaken during the course of 2008.

The exploration success during 2007 has been driven particularly 
by the positive results from the ground‑based EM surveys, 
combined with down‑hole EM, which applies the same technique 
using equipment that is placed down existing drill holes. 
With orebodies such as those at Palito, which are narrow and 
of fluctuating shape, drilling needs to be particularly well targeted 
to maximise the value of each hole, especially when drilling the 
more expensive and time consuming deep holes. The use of 
down‑hole EM assists in this matter.
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It is the view of Serabi’s geologists that Palito and the area 
around it comprises regular occurrences of near vertical, 
narrow, high‑grade gold‑copper vein structures, associated with 
the sulphides of pyrite and chalcopyrite. It is the presence of these 
sulphides that has made the application of the EM technique so 
successful. With this in mind, Serabi intends to realise the full 
potential of the Palito and Jardim do Ouro mineral district through 
an expanded exploration and evaluation programme which is 
now underway. 

The first steps towards this were taken in January 2008, when 
a helicopter‑borne EM survey was completed over an area of 
approximately 6,000 hectares around the existing Palito area 
(which itself comprises a surveyed area of only 180 hectares). 
The resolution of the heli‑EM survey is at least as good as the 
ground‑based EM work but provides a faster and more cost 
effective coverage over a large area. It is expected that the 
results will highlight the presence of several massive sulphide 
anomalies which will then be prioritised for drilling according 
to the perceived prospectivity of each target.

Interpretation of the results of the survey is still in hand but 
has already confirmed five known targets and highlighted the 
existence of a further four large (PMZ size) targets as well as 
numerous smaller anomalies. Of particular interest is the size 
of the anomalies over some of the known targets. The survey 
suggests the extent of the mineralisation is greater than 
previously thought and we are re‑evaluating all the data in 
light of this additional information.

Over the course of 2008 we anticipate undertaking at least 25,000 
metres of drilling. Whilst some of this is already planned and 
underway, a significant portion will be directed towards new 
targets generated by the heli‑EM survey. Of the planned metres 
the principal focus is on:

  Chico da Santa: to test the on‑strike extension of the veins and 
in particular to the north;

  Palito West: to test the down‑dip extensions of the orebodies;

  Palito South: to test the southerly extension of the PMZ;

  Palito Deeps: initially to investigate the zone of known 
mineralisation on the PMZ at depth to a level of 250 metres 
below surface (current operations established to 100 metres), 
with a second phase to a level of 350 metres below surface; and

 Ruari’s Ridge: to delineate the near‑surface oxide resource.

The Company’s objective is that by mid‑2009, it should (taking the PMZ, 
Palito West, Chico da Santa and new Palito style deposits highlighted 
by the heli-EM) be well on its way to identifying sufficient geological 
resources, from which sufficient mineral reserves can be defined in 
order to embark on a feasibility study for the construction of an 80,000 
to 100,000 gold equivalent ounce per year process plant. Construction 
and commissioning would be anticipated during 2010 with the build‑up 
to full production being undertaken during 2010–2011.

ReGiONAl exPlORATiON
While there is a strong focus on exploration immediately around 
the Palito mine, Serabi is also seeking to explore and evaluate 
the mineral potential of the rest of its portfolio across the Tapajos 
region. Early in 2007, the Company announced a significant 
expansion of its exploration holdings from 105,000 hectares 
to some 273,000 hectares. Serabi has now embarked on an 
extensive screening and prioritisation of each of the prospects.

PizON AND MODelO
Much of the additional land portfolio is concentrated around the 
Pizon and Modelo prospects, situated some 250 kilometres to 
the north‑west of Palito but still located on or adjacent to the 
Tocatinzinho Structural Trend. This extensive geological feature

‘‘
The helicopter-borne EM survey has confirmed 
five known targets and highlighted the existence 
of a further four large (PMZ size) targets as well 
as numerous smaller anomalies.
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CHieF exeCUtive’s OPeratiONal review CONtiNUed

exPlOratiON aNd develOPMeNt continued
is considered to be an important controlling influence over gold 
and other mineral deposition in this part of the Tapajos. The area 
around Palito is characterised by high‑grade, narrow‑vein gold 
deposits, hosted in granite intrusive rocks. However, while both 
Pizon and Modelo lie along the same trend, the mineralisation 
is found in volcanic rocks, which are more likely to host large 
tonnage, low‑grade, bulk mineable near‑surface deposits.

Over the past twelve months, the Company has carried out stream 
sediment sampling over the entire Pizon tenement area with the 
objective of identifying anomalous areas which would be the 
subject of more detailed future exploration. During the 1990s 
Rio Tinto undertook some limited drilling over part of the Pizon 
prospect, including an intercept of 32 metres at 5.32 g/t. To date, 
Serabi’s programme has identified five significant anomalies in 
the northern and north‑western portions of the tenement areas, 
with results still pending on the southern areas. Some of these 
anomalies have returned grades in the catchment area in excess 
of 1g/t. The most promising prospect encompasses an area of 
approximately 15 kilometres by five kilometres where significant 
amounts of visible gold have been recovered from panning.

Upon receipt of the pending assay results, it will be possible to 
prioritise further work, which will comprise geological mapping 
and soil geochemistry programmes. This will in turn define specific 
areas for drill testing and it is our objective to identify drill targets 
before the end of quarter one 2009.

At Modelo, a similar programme of stream sediment sampling will 
commence in quarter two with the objective of identifying areas 
for further evaluation by the end of the year.

JuTAi
Studies have been undertaken at Jutai to evaluate the possibility 
of mining the saprolite which hosts fine-grained free gold 
amenable to gravity separation. It has been concluded that 

the ore volumes and the location of this deposit do not justify 
such a small scale operation. Exploration to date has focused 
on the saprolite potential over a small 800m X 200m area. Serabi 
are now undertaking a similar screening process to that being 
followed over the Pizon and Modelo prospects, with the entire 
Jutai tenement area being covered via stream sediment sampling 
to identify anomalous drainage catchments. This will allow for 
a more complete assessment of the area and identify specific 
targets for ongoing exploration.

CASTANheiRA
Drilling was undertaken on a neighbouring tenement to those 
held by Serabi over an area that was expected to extend into 
Serabi’s tenements and was considered the primary target. 
Results from this programme have led us to downgrade this 
area in our priorities given the perceived higher potential of 
other areas. We will continue to evaluate some of the other 
targets within the tenements and are planning a steam sediment 
programme in late 2008 to advance the evaluation of this region.

SuCubA
This prospect was subject to a limited drilling programme in 
2006 focused on a zone of previous garimpeiro activity and which 
identified the presence of hard rock mineralisation underlying an area 
of geochemical anomaly. A further soil sampling programme has 
subsequently been undertaken over this Grota do Avaio area and has 
successfully defined the trend of the mineralisation. A shallow drilling 
programme over this anomaly will be undertaken in quarter two of 
2008. A stream sediment sampling programme is also planned 
over the wider tenement area to isolate other potential targets.

MiKe HOdgsON
Chief exeCuTive 
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FiNaNCe review

It is satisfying to be able to report that, despite the mining 
difficulties of 2007, the Company is in a strong financial position 
going into 2008. This set against a background where gold and 
copper prices have both recently hit all time highs and significant 
progress has been made in controlling and reducing operating 
costs. With the consensus view being that strong metal prices 
will continue through 2008 and beyond, Serabi is well placed 
to generate strong cash flow at the Palito Mine and continue 
its ongoing evaluation and development together with the 
advancement of the Company’s various exploration prospects.

Substantial effort has and continues to be made to identify and 
realise cost savings throughout the operations. We have been 
successful in reducing total operating costs during last year and 
whilst there is clearly a focus on the headline cash costs per 
ounce figure, this has been negatively impacted by the lower gold 
production and exchange rates. In the first half of the year we 
reported that our operating costs in Brazilian Real terms were 
being kept steady and in the second half we have seen these 
costs reducing. Whilst volumes of ore mined and processed were 
comparable between the two six month periods, operating costs for 
the second half were 17% lower in Brazilian Reals than those for the 
first half of 2007. When looking at only the mine site costs per tonne 
of ore processed, we have seen these reduce by 31% from 
BrR$262 per tonne in quarter four 2006 (the Company’s first period of 
commercial production) to an average of BrR$181 per tonne over 2007.

Ultimately, the key to reducing our cash cost per ounce will be 
through improvement in the number of ounces extracted from 
each tonne processed. Our cost base is not highly sensitive to ore 
grade and thus any additional ounces that can be produced should 
be directly reflected in an improvement in cash costs per ounce 
and operating profits. We have targeted production levels of some 
40,000 ounces gold equivalent for 2008 at a cash cost per gold 
equivalent ounce of US$400. Had we achieved such a level of 
production level in 2007, the cash costs of the operation would 
have been US$402 per gold equivalent ounce, compared with 
the US$474 achieved.

The decline of the US Dollar against most of the major currencies 
has impacted on the reported costs of many of the world’s gold 
operations located outside of the United States. Serabi has 
additionally been affected by the strength of the Brazilian Real 
against most other currencies which has further obscured some 
of the cost savings achieved at the Palito mine. Over 2007 the Real 

sUMMary OF FiNaNCe review

  Mine site costs per tonne reduced 
by 31% compared with 2006

  Brazilian Real strengthened by 
28% against US Dollar since 
May 2005

  Underlying operating profits 
rose to US$5.4 million from 
US$2.4 million in 2006

  Average price realised for concentrate 
sales of US$741 per ounce

  Target cash cost of US$400 per gold 
equivalent ounce for 2008

‘‘
We have been successful in reducing total 
operating costs during last year although cash 
costs per ounce have been negatively impacted 
by lower gold production and exchange rates.
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appreciated by 17% against the US Dollar and, since Serabi shares 
were listed in May 2005, it had strengthened by 28%, closing 
the year at a rate of BrR$1.77 to the US Dollar. In May 2005, 
a cash cost per ounce of US$250 was equivalent to BrR$613. 
At a 1.75 exchange rate, that same BrR$613 is equivalent to 
US$350. Whilst currency hedging can buy time, ultimately the 
solution to mitigating the effects of currency appreciation is to 
identify practical long‑term cost savings. Whilst we have seen 
further appreciation of the Real during the first quarter of 2008, 
market opinion at the end of 2007 was that 2008 would bring 
stabilisation and possibly some limited devaluation. Continued 
market instability would, to date, appear to have prevented this.

The continued rise of gold and copper prices is clearly benefitting 
Serabi’s operating margins. EBITDA improved from a loss of 
US$0.78 million in 2006 to a profit of US$1.77 million in 2007 
whilst underlying operating profits rose from US$2.4 million 
to US$5.4 million. Sales of copper/gold concentrate accounted 
for approximately 87% of Serabi’s revenues. During the year, 
an average gold price of US$741 was obtained for these 
concentrate sales, compared with the average London 
spot price of US$697. This is a factor of the rising market. 
Sales of concentrate production are fixed at prices ruling 
some 2–3 months after the date of production. As the Company 
is an un-hedged producer it has benefitted from the steady price 
rises throughout the period.

To capitalise on success with new discoveries some US$6 million 
was committed to exploration expenditure during 2007, up from 
US$3.5 million in the previous year. Serabi’s ability to commit 
to such an aggressive programme was greatly assisted by the 
financing undertaken in July 2007. These funds were primarily 
raised to allow the Company to continue to optimise the Palito 
operations and significantly increase its level of exploration activity, 
focusing in particular on the near mine potential around Palito. 
Central to the Company’s strategy, we consider that discoveries 
made in this district can be transformed relatively quickly into 
production and cash flow by leveraging off the existing infrastructure.

The Board has made available up to US$9 million for the 2008 
programmes although the actual spend will be dependent on 
results. It is anticipated that by early 2009, sufficient progress will 
have been made in the evaluation of Palito and the Jardim do Ouro 
district to make an initial assessment of an enlarged resource. 
This will allow the Company to consider the scale and nature 
of the future expansion plans for the district.

We continue actively to advance our regional exploration prospects 
and some 20% of the 2008 budget is expected to be allocated to 
these. The need to establish separate infrastructure to support any 
future operating mines in these areas does however mean that any 

discoveries will take longer to bring into production. To support 
the greater initial capital needs, they will also need to be larger 
than a satellite discovery in the Palito/Jardim do Ouro district. 
Some of these prospects are, however, in different geological 
settings to Palito and are therefore considered to possess the 
potential to be of adequate size to meet the necessary criteria.

The capital expenditure programme for 2007 resulted in some 
US$2.0 million being spent over the year. Of this, US$858,000 
represented additions to the mining fleet and US$497,000 was incurred 
on long‑term mine development activity. The Company’s plans 
to expand the fleet further during 2008 require a further US$1.75 million 
to be spent. Where possible, supplier credit agreements will be used to 
spread the acquisition cost over a 24‑month period. By the end of 2008 
our mining fleet will be comprised primarily of equipment that is less 
than two years old, which apart from providing fundamental mining 
benefits, should also bring improvements to operating costs and 
reducing near‑term replacement requirements. With plans underway 
to develop production from the Chico da Santa and Palito West areas, 
mine development costs of some US$2.0 million are projected to cover 
the infrastructure and initial development expenditure. These costs are 
being minimised by the use, wherever possible, of our own personnel 
and mining fleet to develop the ramps, other accesses and the 
ventilation shafts that are required.

As we explore and develop to greater depth, there are cost and 
efficiency benefits in undertaking the required drilling from within 
the existing mine workings rather than from the surface. Around 
US$450,000 is therefore also being committed to underground 
exploration drilling equipment to supplement the surface fleet. 
This work will also provide essential data for mine planning purposes.

Whilst the lower than expected production in 2007 has impacted 
expected levels of cash, the Company had cash resources of over 
US$18.5 million at the end of 2007. It is envisaged that the projected 
exploration and capital programmes can be comfortably financed 
from cash flow and the existing cash reserves.

Finally, whilst it is early to comment in detail on the funding of any 
future expansion to support the next ‘step change’ in production 
levels, the current expectation is that a substantial portion, if not 
all of this capital requirement, could be met from debt finance. 
This will continue to be evaluated during the rest of the year 
as the planning is developed.

Clive liNe
fiNANCe DiReCTOR

FiNaNCe review CONtiNUed

�����

�����

������

������

������

������

������

������ ������ ������ ������ ������ ������ ������ ������ ������

������

��������

���������

����������������������������������������������������������������������������



19Serabi Mining plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2007

COMMUNity aNd tHe eNvirONMeNt

This year, the social programme has been expanded. As the scale 
of Serabi’s operations has increased, the need to build further 
infrastructure has become more of a priority, which again benefits 
the local community. Serabi has participated in the rehabilitation 
of a section of one of the main supply roads in the region. 
Whilst directly beneficial to the Company, it will also bring better 
links and economic benefits to the whole area.

Serabi’s social programme is managed by the General Manager at 
Palito, Israel Barbosa, who liaises with the local community and the 
Government at regional and state levels. Trust between the miner 
and the Government is essential in making the relationship work. 

Serabi is well aware that they are running a commercial 
organisation for the benefit of their shareholders but they are 
also conscious that the support of the local community is vital 
to the success of the operation. 

In the future, Serabi plans to be involved in a number of 
local initiatives, including ensuring that the children are driven 
to school in a safe bus as well as the continued support of 
Jardim’s police station. This year, there will be a Children’s Day 
celebration to which Serabi will donate toys, food and games. 
The Company will also be buying new school text books and 
ensuring that the local road remains in good condition. 

As an underground mining operation, Serabi’s environmental footprint 
is relatively small. The Company has made financial provision for the 
rehabilitation of the site and has already commenced rehabilitation 
works in certain areas. Old garimpeiro tailings dams as well as some 
of Serabi’s own tailings dams have been treated and are currently 
being re‑vegetated with indigenous plants and trees. In accordance 
with the terms of our mining licence, monitoring stations are in 
place to analyse ground water for signs of contamination from our 
operations. The Company works closely with local environmental 
consultancies to ensure that it operates best environmental practices.

Mining companies, wherever they are in the world, have a duty 
to protect the local community where they operate, both from 
an environmental and social standpoint. Serabi has put an active 
social programme in place from day one of their tenure in Brazil 
and with a new management team on the ground, are proposing 
to increase the number of projects they support. 

Serabi seeks, where practical, to employ local people from the 
surrounding villages and has sought to establish an infrastructure 
to support them. This has included building a dental surgery and a 
medical facility as well as completely refurbishing the local school. 

Most of the local workers come from Jardim do Ouro, situated about 
twelve kilometres from the Palito Mine, which has about 600 residents. 
Serabi has recruited three doctors as well as a dentist to improve 
healthcare in the local community and is currently spending 
US$19,500 a month to support this programme.

The dental surgery was established in 2005. Since that time 
approximately 3,395 people have been seen, including a child 
under a year old, the oldest being a patient over 70. The medical 
facility holds a weekly clinic providing medical check‑ups for 
all babies, infants and younger children in the community.

Whilst the school in Jardim do Ouro has been established for 
30 years, Serabi has supported a complete refurbishment of 
the school building in order to make it bigger and better for 
the children. Today more than 250 students attend the facility. 
They are taught by five teachers, two of whom have moved to 
the local area. The ages of the pupils range from four years old 
to 70 as those who barely had an education in the past are now 
taking advantage of the current facilities available. 

Subjects range from family values to maths, history and geography 
whilst at secondary‑level topics such as Portuguese, physics, 
chemistry and Amazonian studies are also included. 

Children of Jardim do Ouro enjoy a party 
arranged by serabi

rehabilitation of the transgarimpeiro highway indigenous vegetation taking root on the 
reclaimed tailing dams
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direCtOrs aNd seNiOr MaNageMeNt

1. GrAhAm roBErTS, BSc c.EnG, Fimmm, 57
exeCuTive ChAiRMAN
Graham has 35 years of international experience in the mining industry 
and related financial markets. Prior to joining Serabi in 2003, Graham 
was managing director and group head of investment and corporate 
banking for BMO Nesbitt Burns (now BMO Capital Markets) in 
London, a wholly‑owned investment banking subsidiary of the Bank 
of Montreal. Previously, Graham worked as director and head of mining 
research for W.I. Carr UK Ltd. Subsequently, from 1994 to 1996, he 
headed up the mining business at the UK merchant bank Hambros, 
where he was executive director of Hambros Equities UK Ltd providing 
a full range of cross‑border capital markets and advisory services to 
international mining companies. Before entering the financial services 
sector, Graham worked for 13 years at Consolidated Gold Fields in the 
UK and Africa, in corporate finance, mining and exploration across 
a wide range of base metal and precious metal projects and mines. 

He has a BSc in Geology and Geography from London University, 
is a Fellow of the Institute of Materials, Minerals and Mining and 
is a Chartered Engineer.

2. miKE hodGSon, BSc, mSc, cEnG, Fimm, 46
Chief exeCuTive
Mike has worked in the mining industry for over 20 years and has 
extensive international experience. Most recently he worked as 
chief operating officer and vice president technical services for 
Canadian‑based Orvana Minerals Corporation. Prior to that, he provided 
consulting services to a number of mining companies in Europe and 
South America. Previous appointments include manager of technical 
services and operations for TVX Gold Inc.; mining technical consultant 
at ACA Howe International Ltd and similar roles at Rio Tinto plc 
and Zambia Consolidated Copper Mines Ltd. He has, during his 
career, acquired extensive experience in narrow vein underground 
mining operations.

Originally qualified in mining geology, Mike is a Fellow of Materials, 
Minerals and Mining, a Chartered Engineer of the Engineering Council 
of UK and a ‘Qualified Person’ in accordance with the Canadian 
National Instrument 43‑101 – Standards of Mineral Disclosure for 
Mineral Projects.

3. clivE linE, BA, AcA, 47
fiNANCe DiReCTOR AND COMPANY SeCReTARY
Clive is a Chartered Accountant and has been involved in mining and 
natural resources companies since 1987, overseeing financial and legal 
issues for exploration and development projects in Africa, Europe and 
the former Soviet Union. Having worked with Price Waterhouse in both 
the UK and Australia, he joined Cluff Resources plc in 1987, where 
he was finance director prior to joining the privately owned Quest 
Petroleum Group in a similar position in 1993. Following the successful 
sale of this group he became involved with both Eurasia Mining plc 
and Northern Petroleum plc, both of which were admitted to AIM in 
1996. He has also worked within one of the world’s largest marketing 
services groups operating as a divisional finance director.

He has an Honours degree in Accounting and Finance and is a member 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. 

4. Bill clouGh, BSc(GEol), Bcom(honS), 47
DiReCTOR, New buSiNeSS
Bill was the founding investor of Serabi Mineraçao Ltda and has been 
active in Brazil since 1999. He assembled a portfolio of exploration 
interests in the Tapajos Region which culminated in the establishment 
of Serabi Mineraçao Ltda in 2001.

Bill is also non‑executive chairman of Brazilian‑based nickel resources 
company, Mirabela Nickel Limited. He also has significant interests 
in a number of other ASX and AIM listed and unlisted international 
exploration and mining companies including Exco Resources Ltd, 
Sally Malay Mining Ltd and Albidon Ltd. In 1984, Bill joined his family’s 
engineering construction company, Clough Engineering Group, 
as business development manager. Bill was appointed to the 
Clough Limited board as a non‑executive director in 1994 until 
December 2002. Clough Limited was listed on the Australian 
Stock Exchange in 1998.

Bill holds a BSc in Geology and a BCom in Finance from the University 
of Western Australia.

1. 2. 3.

4. 6.5.
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5. richArd roBinSon, BSc (honS) mSc, 55
NON‑exeCuTive DiReCTOR
Richard has 30 years’ experience in the mining industry. He has had 
extensive involvement with the gold, base metal, platinum and coal 
mining and smelting industries, their international markets and 
national and industry organisations, such as the World Gold Council. 
He is currently a director of companies in the base metals mining, 
smelting and recycling industry and in refining and advanced 
technologies in the precious metals industry. Richard was also 
previously the managing director of LaSource SAS in Paris. Before 
that, he was chief executive officer of Gold Fields Limited and 
previously an executive director of Gold Fields of South Africa Ltd.

Richard has an Honours degree in Computer Science, a Masters 
degree in Mineral Economics from Queen’s University in Canada and 
has attended the Senior Executive Programmes at The Management 
College at Henley‑on‑Thames, England and at INSEAD at 
Fontainebleau, France.

6. rOger davey, aCsM, MsC. C.eNg., eUr.iNg., MiMMM, 62
NON‑exeCuTive DiReCTOR
Roger is a Chartered Mining Engineer with over 30 years of experience 
in the mining industry. He is presently an assistant director and the 
senior mining engineer at N M Rothschild (London). Prior to this his 
experience covered the financing, development and operation of 
mining operations in gold and base metals in South America, Africa 
and the UK. Previous positions held include director, vice president 
and general manager of Minorco/AngloGold subsidiaries in Argentina; 
operations director of Greenwich Resources plc in London; production 
manager for Blue Circle Industries in Chile; and various roles at Gold 
Fields of South Africa.

Roger is a graduate of the Camborne School of Mines, England, 
with a Master of Science degree in Mineral Production Management 
from Imperial College, London University. He is a Chartered Engineer 
(C. Eng.), a European Engineer (Eur. Ing.) and a Member of the 
Institute of Materials, Minerals and Mining (MIMMM).

senioR ManageMent in BRazil
waNderlaN alMeida 
MANAGiNG DiReCTOR
Wanderlan has extensive experience working in the mining and chemical 
industry in Brazil over the past 29 years, most recently as industrial director 
of the chemical group, IPC do Nordeste Ltda. Prior to IPC Wanderlan 
worked for 13 years at Rio Tinto Mineraçao, moving from operations 
manager at the Rio Paracatu gold mine to mining manager at the group 
head office and subsequently at the Fortaleza nickel mine. Previously 
he worked for seven years for the Companhia Siderúrgica Nacional group 
as mine planning engineer and economic co‑ordinator, responsible for 
feasibility studies and new investments. 

Wanderlan holds a BSc in Mining Engineering, with postgraduate studies 
in Geostatistics from the Federal University of Ouro Preto.

Ulisses MelO
Chief fiNANCiAl OffiCeR
Ulisses has responsibility for all financial and administrative affairs of the 
Company in Brazil and brings with him strong experience of implementing 
system improvements and internal controls and international finance and 
reporting. Prior to joining Serabi he spent five years working with the 
international accounting firm Arthur Andersen and a further ten years 
working with Samarco Mineracao, Companhia de Fomento Mineral 
and Rio Capim Caulim S/A as controller and finance director.

Ulisses is a graduate in Economics and Business Administration 
from the University of PUC Minas Gerais and holds a MBA from 
the University of Fundação Dom Cabral (FDC).

CHris sPUrway
exPlORATiON MANAGeR
Chris joined Serabi in early 2007 from Troy Resources, where he was 
exploration manager in Latin & South America for three years. He has over 
17 years of experience in mineral exploration and resource definition in 
Australia, South America and Canada and previously worked as a senior 
exploration geologist for AngloGold in Australia and as a geologist with 
Acacia Resources, CRA Exploration and Tri Origin Minerals. 

Chris is a graduate of the University of Sydney with a Bachelor 
of Science Honours degree in Geology and also holds a Graduate 
Certificate in Business Management from the University of New 
England and a Certificate in Frontline Management from the Mt Eliza 
Business School/Monash University. 

left to right: israel Barbosa, General manager with ulisses melo 
and wanderlan almeida
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Directors’ remuneration report
For the year ended 31 December 2007

remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises the two Non-executive Directors. It is responsible for determining and agreeing with the 
Board the framework for the remuneration of the Chief Executive, all other Executive Directors, the Chairman of the Company (if an 
Executive Director), the Company Secretary and such other members of the executive management as it feels appropriate to consider. 
It is furthermore responsible for determining the total individual remuneration packages of each Director including, where appropriate, 
bonuses, incentive payments and share options. 

It also considers recommendations from the Executive Directors in respect of proposals for bonuses, incentive payments and share 
options to be awarded to senior managers within the Group and makes recommendations on the overall remuneration plans adopted 
by the Company. The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors is a matter that is dealt with by the Board as a whole.

remuneration policy
The Company aims to ensure that each individual’s remuneration package is reasonable for the sector in which the Company operates 
and appropriate to attract, motivate and retain executives of a calibre necessary to ensure achievement of the Company’s objectives and 
enhancement of shareholder value.

The Board is responsible for determining the total remuneration package for each Executive Director and reviewing this on an annual basis.

executive remuneration
The Executive Directors’ remuneration packages consist of the following elements:
(i) basic annual salary;
(ii) health cover;
(iii) pension contribution; and
(iv) bonus schemes comprising a combination of cash, deferred shares and share options.

Basic salaries are reviewed annually. The Board takes into consideration the remuneration paid by comparable companies in terms 
of asset size, market capitalisation and complexity of the Company’s operations when considering appropriate salary levels.

Any reward of bonuses and share options is linked to the overall performance of the Company and the individual concerned.

non-executive remuneration
The remuneration package for Non-executive Directors is established by the Board as a whole but Non-executive Directors do not vote 
on any changes to their own fees.

Remuneration currently consists of a fixed fee which is set to reflect prescribed time commitments and the relative responsibilities 
of each Non-executive Director on the affairs of the Company. Additional consultancy fees are paid if the input required exceeds the 
anticipated levels. The Non-executive Directors currently hold share options issued prior to the listing of the Company’s shares.
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Directors anD their interests
ORdinARy ShAReS And OptiOnS
The Directors of the Company, who held office during the year ended 31 December 2007, had the following interests in the ordinary 
shares of the Company according to the register of Directors’ interests:
 Share options held Share options held    Shares held at Shares held at 
 at 31 December at 31 December   31 December 31 December 
 2007 2006 Option price Exercise period 2007 2006

Graham Roberts 1,373,222 1,373,222 15p 30 Nov 05 to 1 Apr 16 845,834 845,834
 915,481 915,481 30p 1 Apr 06  to 1 Apr 16
Bill Clough(1) 1,029,916 1,029,916 15p 30 Nov 05  to 1 Apr 16 37,828,617 40,078,617
 686,611 686,611 30p 1 Apr 06  to 1 Apr 16
Michael Hodgson(2) 600,000 — 32.25p 18 Jan 08  to 17 Jan 17 90,000 —
 400,000 — 36.85p 15 Nov 08  to 14 Nov 17
Clive Line 572,176 572,176 15p 30 Nov 05  to 1 Apr 16 343,333 283,333
 572,176 572,176 30p 1 Apr 06  to 1 Apr 16
Richard Robinson 143,044 143,044 15p 30 Nov 05  to 1 Apr 16 50,000 50,000
 143,044 143,044 30p 1 Apr 06  to 1 Apr 16
Roger Davey 143,044 143,044 15p 30 Nov 05  to 1 Apr 16 — —
 143,044 143,044 30p 1 Apr 06  to 1 Apr 16
(1)  Bill Clough is a Director and sole shareholder of WM Clough Pty Limited and the beneficial owner of Gigantic Resources Inc. He is also deemed to be a 

beneficiary of shares held by McRae Investments Pty Limited.
(2) Michael Hodgson was appointed a Director of the Company on 18 January 2007.

During the year ended 31 December 2007 the Company’s shares have traded between 47 pence and 26 pence. On 31 December 2007 
the closing price was 27 pence.

ReMuneRAtiOn – Audited
      For the year to 
   IFRS 2 valuation of    31 December 
 Salary Pension options granted Other Total 2006 
Director $ $ $ $ $ $

Graham Roberts 167,717 13,683 — 9,845 191,245 323,836
Michael Hodgson 200,191 17,813 108,166 1,449 327,619 —
Bill Clough 147,531 14,291 — 1,272 163,094 365,030
Clive Line 210,705 19,084 — 4,339 234,128 360,942
Richard Robinson 35,551 — — — 35,551 52,409
Roger Davey 31,545 — — — 31,545 23,843
Total 793,240 64,871 108,166 16,905 983,182 1,126,060

Included in remuneration for the year to 31 December 2006 are pension costs of $41,743.
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Directors’ report
For the year ended 31 December 2007

The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.

results anD DiviDenDs
The Group loss for the year after taxation amounts to $122,879 (2006: loss of $2,208,769). The Directors do not recommend the payment 
of a dividend. The results for the year are set out on page 28 in the consolidated income statement.

principal activities anD business review
The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company and a provider of support and management services to its operating 
subsidiary. Together with its subsidiaries (see note 10) it is involved in the development of gold and other metals mining projects in Brazil 
and the operation of the Palito Gold Mine in the Tapajos region of Brazil.

A detailed review of activities, business developments and the Company’s projects is included in the Chairman’s Statement, 
the Chief Executive’s Operational Review and the Finance Review on pages 4 to 18.

substantial shareholDings
As at 8 May 2008 the Company was aware of the following holdings of 3% or more in the Company’s issued share capital:
     Number of 
Name     shares held Percentage

McRae Investments Pty Ltd(1)     19,799,651 14.13%
WM Clough Pty Ltd(1)     17,761,536 12.67%
F&C Asset Management plc     14,002,432 9.99 %
BlackRock Investment Management (UK Limited)     12,866,333 9.18 %
JP Morgan Asset Management (UK) Limited     10,985,200 7.84 %
Majedie Asset Management Limited     9,433,133 6.73 %
Trafelet & Co     7,358,334 5.25 %
Standard Bank plc     5,883,334 4.20 %
(1)  Bill Clough is a Director and the sole shareholder of WM Clough Pty Ltd and is a Director of and has a minority interest in McRae Investments Pty Ltd. 

Bill Clough is also the beneficial owner of Gigantic Resources Inc. which holds 267,430 ordinary shares representing 0.19% of the ordinary shares 
in total.

share capital
Movements in share capital during the period are disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

Issues of share options to employees that are also subject to achievement of performance criteria have been made under the Long-term 
Incentive Plan as follows: 
Date of issue  Number issued Price Expiry

18 Jan 07  1,000,000 32.25p 17 Jan 17
28 Mar 07  150,000 38.40p 27 Mar 17
15 Nov 07  450,000 26.40p 14 Nov 17
15 Nov 07  400,000 38.85p 14 Nov 17

The above issues include the issue of 1,000,000 options granted to Mr Michael Hodgson, a Director of the Company, as detailed in 
this report. Mr Hodgson was granted options over 600,000 ordinary shares on his appointment and became contractually entitled to 
options over a further 400,000 ordinary shares, at the time of his appointment as Chief Executive. At that date the Directors were in a 
‘closed period’. The options were issued when the Company was no longer in a ‘closed period’ but the Board agreed the option price 
should be set as if the options had been awarded on the date that the contractual entitlement became due. There were no other issues 
of options to Directors of the Company during the year or subsequent to the year-end.

There were no issues of shares under the Cash and Deferred Share Bonus Scheme during the period or subsequent to the year-end. 

creDitor payment policy
It is the Group’s policy to settle all amounts due to creditors in accordance with terms and conditions agreed between the Group and 
suppliers, provided that all trading terms and conditions have been complied with. As at 31 December 2007, the Group had 46.1 days’ 
purchases outstanding in creditors.

going concern
Following a review of the Company’s financial position and its budgets and plans, the Directors have concluded that sufficient financial 
resources will be available to meet the Company’s current and foreseeable working capital requirements. On this basis, they consider 
it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis. 



25Serabi Mining plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2007

statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have, as required by 
the AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange, prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union and have also elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with those 
standards. The financial statements are required to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the 
profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements the Directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue 

in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements and other 
information included in Annual Reports may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

corporate governance
The Directors believe that the Company complies with the principles set out in The Combined Code on Corporate Governance published 
in July 2003 by the Financial Reporting Council so far as they consider is appropriate, having regard to the size and nature of activities of 
the Group.

boarD composition
The Directors who served during the year are shown on page 22.

The Directors have responsibility for the overall corporate governance of the Group and recognise the need for the highest standards of 
behaviour and accountability. The Directors are committed to the principles underlying best practice in corporate governance and intend 
to comply with the principles of the Combined Code in such respects as they consider appropriate for a company of its size and nature. 
The Board has a wide range of experience directly relevant to the Company and its activities and its structure ensures that no one 
individual or group dominates the decision making process.

committees
The Company has established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee and an Executive Committee.

Audit COMMittee
The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is properly reported on and monitored, 
considering and setting appropriate accounting policies and reviewing the auditors’ report relating to accounts and internal control 
systems. The Audit Committee meets at least three times a year.

exeCutive COMMittee
The Board has appointed an Executive Committee to oversee and coordinate the day-to-day running of the Company. 

It is empowered to make decisions over a number of areas without reference to the full Board and specifically to deal with all matters 
relating to the daily operation of the Company.

The Executive Committee, comprising the Chief Executive, Chairman, Director, New Business and the Finance Director, is responsible 
for the daily operation of the Company, and for making recommendations to the Board regarding short and medium-term budgets, 
targets and overall objectives and strategies for the Company.

ReMuneRAtiOn COMMittee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for establishing the policies of executive remuneration and determining the remuneration 
and benefits of the individual executive Directors. Full disclosure of the policies can be found in the Remuneration Report on page 22.

share Dealing
The Company has adopted a share dealing code for Directors and relevant employees in accordance with the AIM Rules and takes 
proper steps to ensure compliance by the Directors and these employees.

internal controls
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Company’s system of internal controls and procedures and for reviewing the 
effectiveness of these and ensuring that management of its subsidiaries review the internal controls and procedures operating in the 
subsidiaries. Such controls and procedures are designed to safeguard the Company’s and the Group’s assets and ensure reliability 
of reporting information, financial and otherwise, for both internal use and external publication. Whilst conscious that no system can 
provide absolute assurance against material misstatement, fraud, or loss, the Directors are satisfied that having regard to the Company’s 
size and stage of development, the system of controls is currently adequate and effective.

management of financial risks
The Board endeavours to balance the financial risks that the Company may have exposure to, with the desire to maximise value and 
returns for shareholders.
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Directors’ report continueD
For the year ended 31 December 2007

management of financial risks continueD
The Group has not entered into any derivative transactions and it is not currently the Group’s policy to undertake trading in 
financial instruments.

The main financial risks arising from the Group’s activities are commodity prices, currency, liquidity, credit and interest rates. The Board 
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and these are summarised below.

COMMOdity pRiCe RiSk
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in commodity prices and in particular the price of gold and copper. It is not currently the Group’s 
intention to enter into any arrangements to protect itself from changes in the prices of these commodities. The Group does however 
closely monitor the prices of these commodities and will consider the use of hedging contracts, where the Board feels that it would 
be in the best interests of the Group to do so.

inteReSt RAte RiSk
The Group currently finances its operations through equity financing, a short-term trade finance facility and fixed rate finance leases.

There is not considered to be any material interest rate risk. The Group’s policy is to retain surplus funds as short-term deposits at 
prevailing market rates.

The fair value of all financial instruments is approximately equal to book value due to their short-term nature.

Liquidity RiSk
To date the Group has relied on shareholder funding, short-term trade finance and fixed rate finance leases to finance its operation. 
The Group maintains a credit line in Brazil through a bank agreement with a limit of BrR$200,000 that can be used for daily working 
capital. This credit line was drawn to the value of BrR$140,449 at the balance sheet date. As the Group has cash resources and steady 
income, the liquidity risk is not significant and is managed by control over expenditure.

CRedit RiSk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to its cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. The Group deposits 
surplus cash with financial institutions that hold good credit ratings. The Group sells its products to organisations of strong financial 
standing to minimise its exposure.

CuRRenCy RiSk
Although the Parent Company is incorporated in the United Kingdom, its financial statements and those of the Group are denominated 
in US Dollars.

Share issues have been priced solely in Sterling. Expenditure is generally denominated in US Dollars, Sterling, Euros, Australian Dollars 
and Brazilian Real. 

The Group’s main subsidiary operates in Brazil with its expenditure being principally in Brazilian Real and its financial statements are 
maintained in that currency. The Group’s policy for dealing with exchange differences is outlined in the Statement of Accounting Policies 
under the heading ‘Foreign currencies’.

The Group does not presently utilise swaps or forward contracts to manage its currency exposures, although such facilities are 
considered and may be used where appropriate in the future.

The Group seeks to minimise its exposure to currency risk by closely monitoring exchange rates. 

post balance sheet events
Between the end of the financial period and the date of these financial statements, there has been no item, transaction or event of 
material or unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the entity, 
the results of these operations, or the state of affairs of the entity in future financial periods. 

inDemnification of Directors anD officers
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the Company, the Company 
Secretary, and all executive officers of the Company against liability incurred as such a Director, Company Secretary or executive officer 
to the extent permitted under legislation.

auDitors
PKF (UK) LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office. A resolution to reappoint them as auditors will be put before the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Disclosure of auDit information
As far as each of the Directors is aware, at the time this report was approved:

(a) there is no relevant available information of which the auditors are unaware; and

(b)  they have taken all steps that ought to have been taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the auditors are aware of that information.

By order of the Board

clive line
COMpAny SeCRetARy
12 MAy 2008
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inDepenDent auDitors’ report
To the members of Serabi Mining plc

We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (‘the financial statements’) of Serabi Mining plc for the year ended 
31 December 2007 which comprise the consolidated income statement and the consolidated and Company balance sheets, cash flow 
statements and statements of changes in equity and the related notes. The financial statements have been prepared under the 
accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

respective responsibilities of Directors anD auDitors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ 
Report is consistent with the financial statements. The information in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented 
in the Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive’s Operational Review and Finance Review that is cross referenced from the business 
review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other 
transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. 
The other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report, the Chairman’s Statement, the 
Chief Executive’s Operational Review and the Finance Review. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

basis of auDit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also 
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, 
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in order to provide us 
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in 
the financial statements.

opinion
In our opinion:

•  the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, of the state 
of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of its loss for the year then ended;

•  the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union 
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 
31 December 2007;

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and 

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

pkf (uk) llp
RegiSteRed AuditORS
LOndOn uk
12 MAy 2008
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consoliDateD income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

 Group
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
(expressed in US$)    Notes 2007 2006

Revenue    2 25,099,118 7,256,136 

Operating expenses     (19,708,212) (4,846,122)

Profit from operations     5,390,906 2,410,014

Administration expenses     (3,446,849) (2,860,522)

Share-based payments     (177,913) (331,338)

Write-off of past exploration costs     (628,066) —

Depreciation of plant and equipment     (1,530,243) (1,426,004)

Depreciation of mine asset     (795,878) (232,097)

Loss on ordinary activities before interest and other income   3 (1,188,043) (2,439,947)

Foreign exchange gain     1,725,397 449,857

Interest payable    4 (1,119,116) (339,328)

Interest receivable    4 586,969 120,649

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation     5,207 (2,208,769)

Taxation     5 (128,086) —

Loss on ordinary activities after taxation     (122,879) (2,208,769)

Loss per ordinary share (basic and diluted)    7 (0.10c) (2.04c)
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balance sheets
As at 31 December 2007

 Group  Company

(expressed in US$)  Notes 2007 2006 2007 2006

Non-current assets     

Goodwill   8 1,752,516 1,752,516 — —

Development and deferred exploration costs  8 13,254,658 6,454,074 1,112,164 418,354

Property, plant and equipment  9 25,831,006 22,203,706 1,877,933 2,079,073

Investments in subsidiaries  10 — — 17,339,256 17,339,256

Other receivables  12 — — 17,536,972 11,642,605

Total non-current assets   40,838,180 30,410,296 37,866,325 31,479,288

Current assets     

Inventories  11 3,341,954 2,441,783 — —

Trade and other receivables  12 1,903,452 1,128,830 8,728 31,537

Prepayments and accrued income  12 2,118,158 1,521,347 73,688 43,588

Cash at bank and in hand  13 18,629,402 3,856,878 18,526,555 2,739,201

Total current assets   25,992,966 8,948,838 18,608,971 2,814,326

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables  14 4,163,638 4,053,744 567,021 869,719

Accruals   87,111 176,252 87,111 138,594

Interest bearing liabilities  16 839,986 582,491 — —

Total current liabilities   5,090,735 4,812,487 654,132 1,008,313

Net current assets   20,902,231 4,136,351 17,954,839 1,806,013

Total assets less current liabilities   61,740,411 34,546,647 55,821,164 33,285,301

Non-current liabilities     

Trade and other payables  14 39,896 180,314 — —

Provisions  15 920,135 799,749 — —

Interest bearing liabilities  16 376,132 368,778 — —

Total non-current liabilities   1,336,163 1,348,841 — —

Net assets   60,404,248 33,197,806 55,821,164 33,285,301

Equity     

Called up share capital  17 25,285,679 19,338,351 25,285,679 19,338,351

Share premium reserve   33,402,649 15,351,674 33,402,649 15,351,674

Option reserve   2,923,543 2,818,722 2,923,543 2,818,722

Translation reserve   3,499,865 382,502 — —

Profit and loss account  19 (4,707,488) (4,693,443) (5,790,707) (4,223,446)

Equity shareholders’ funds   60,404,248 33,197,806 55,821,164 33,285,301

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 May 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

clive line
FinAnCe diReCtOR
12 MAy 2008 
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statement of changes in shareholDers’ equity
For the year ended 31 December 2007

(expressed in US$) Share Share Share option Translation Profit and  
Group capital premium reserve reserve  loss account Total equity

Equity shareholders’ funds 
at 31 December 2005 17,974,336 11,818,128 2,690,052 (1,273,264) (2,602,080) 28,607,172

Foreign currency adjustments — — — 1,655,766 — 1,655,766

Loss for year — — — — (2,208,769) (2,208,769)

Total recognised loss for the year — — — 1,655,766 (2,208,769) (553,003)

Share option expense — — 246,076 — — 246,076

Issue of ordinary shares 1,282,386 3,698,827 — — — 4,981,213

Conversion of options 81,629 88,741 (117,406) — 117,406 170,370

Share issue expenses — (254,022) — — — (254,022)

Equity shareholders’ funds 
at 31 December 2006 19,338,351 15,351,674 2,818,722 382,502 (4,693,443) 33,197,806

Foreign currency adjustments — — — 3,117,363 — 3,117,363

Loss for year — — — — (122,879) (122,879)

Total recognised profit for the year — — — 3,117,363 (122,879) 2,994,484

Share option expense — — 213,655 — — 213,655

Issue of ordinary shares 5,884,593 19,419,158 — — — 25,303,751

Conversion of options 62,735 31,368 (108,834) — 108,834 94,103

Share issue expenses — (1,399,551) — — — (1,399,551)

Equity shareholders’ funds 
at 31 December 2007 25,285,679 33,402,649 2,923,543 3,499,865 (4,707,488) 60,404,248

(expressed in US$)  Share Share Share option Profit and  
Company  capital premium reserve loss account Total equity

Equity shareholders’ funds 
at 31 December 2005  17,974,336 11,818,128 2,690,052 (3,098,251) 29,384,265

Loss for year  — — — (1,242,601) (1,242,601)

Share option expense  — — 246,076 — 246,076

Issue of ordinary shares  1,282,386 3,698,827 — — 4,981,213

Conversion of options  81,629 88,741 (117,406) 117,406 170,370

Share issue expenses  — (254,022) — — (254,022)

Equity shareholders’ funds 
at 31 December 2006  19,338,351 15,351,674 2,818,722 (4,223,446) 33,285,301

Loss for year  — — — (1,676,095) (1,676,095)

Share option expense  — — 213,655 — 213,655

Issue of ordinary shares  5,884,593 19,419,158 — — 25,303,751

Conversion of options  62,735 31,368 (108,834) 108,834 94,103

Share issue expenses  — (1,399,551) — — (1,399,551)

Equity shareholders’ funds 
at 31 December 2007  25,285,679 33,402,649 2,923,543 (5,790,707) 55,821,164
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cash flow statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

 Group  Company

   For the For the For the For the 
   year ended year ended year ended year ended 
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
(expressed in US$)   2007 2006 2007 2006

Cash outflows from operating activities    

Operating loss   (1,188,043) (2,439,947) (2,341,926) (1,900,778)

Depreciation – plant, equipment and mining properties  2,326,121 1,658,101 210,857 81,931

Option costs   177,913 142,443 177,913 142,443

Share-based payments   — 188,895 — 188,895

Write-off of past exploration costs   628,066 — 16,546 —

Interest paid   (1,119,116) (339,328) (6,562) —

Foreign exchange   (968,729) (281,231) 96,565 —

Changes in working capital      

(Increase) in inventories   (348,915) (443,136) — —

(Increase)/decrease in receivables, prepayments  
and accrued income   (691,942) 399,765 (7,291) 350,237

(Decrease)/increase in payables, accruals and provisions  (795,730) 1,314,609 (354,181) 361,755

Net cash flow from operations   (1,980,375) 200,171 (2,208,079) (775,517)

Investing activities    

Proceeds of sale of fixed assets   — 114,681 — —

Purchase of tangible fixed assets   (1,155,963) (2,826,077) (10,747) (466,131)

Exploration and development expenditure(1)   (6,017,472) (373,568) (710,356) (633,469)

Capital and loan investments in subsidiaries   — — (5,894,367) (2,048,475)

Interest received   586,969 120,649 584,621 106,052

Net cash outflow on investing activities   (6,586,466) (2,964,315) (6,030,849) (3,042,023)

Financing activities    

Issue of ordinary share capital   25,303,751 4,536,220 25,303,751 4,536,220

Capital element of finance lease payments   (702,689) (327,406) — —

Conversion of options   94,103 170,370 94,103 170,370

Payment of share issue costs   (1,399,551) (254,022) (1,399,551) (254,022)

Net cash inflow from financing activities   23,295,614 4,125,162 23,998,303 4,452,568

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   14,728,773 1,361,018 15,759,375 635,028

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  3,791,202 2,152,452 2,739,201 1,552,048

Exchange difference on cash   9,820 277,732 27,979 552,125

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   18,529,795 3,791,202 18,526,555 2,739,201

(1) Exploration and development expenditure of the Group for 2006 is stated net of pre-operating income of $2,839,018.
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notes to the financial statements

1. significant accounting policies
(A) BASiS OF pRepARAtiOn
Serabi Mining plc (the ‘Company’) is a limited company listed on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange, incorporated and 
domiciled in the United Kingdom. The registered office and principal place of business are disclosed in the corporate directory section 
of the Annual Report. 

The principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ Report on page 24.

The financial statements are presented in US Dollars. They are prepared on the historical cost basis or the fair value basis where the fair 
valuing of relevant assets and liabilities has been applied.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and their interpretations 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted for use within the European Union (IFRS), and those parts of the 
Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

(B) BASiS OF COnSOLidAtiOn
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is recognised where the Company has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair value at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair 
values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the fair value of net 
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective 
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies into line with those 
used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

(ii) transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(C) FOReign CuRRenCieS
The Group’s presentation currency is US Dollars, and has been selected based on the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the Group as a whole operates.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of a company are recorded at a rate of exchange approximating to that 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies 
other than the functional currency are translated at the amounts prevailing at the balance sheet date and any gains or losses arising are 
recognised in the income statement. 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations that do not have a US Dollar functional currency are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange 
rate for the period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity.

The US Dollar/Sterling exchange rate at 31 December 2007 was 1.99631. The US Dollar/Brazilian Real exchange rate at 31 December 2007 
was 1.7741.

(d) pROpeRty, pLAnt And equipMent
(i) Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (note 1(D) (iv)) and impairment losses (note 1(H)).

Upon demonstration of the feasibility of commercial production, any past deferred exploration, evaluation and development costs related 
to that operation are reclassified as Mining Properties. They are stated at cost less amortisation charges and any provision for 
impairment. Amortisation is calculated on the Unit of Production basis.

(ii) Leased assets
Assets held under leases, which result in the Group bearing risk and receiving benefit of ownership (finance leases), are capitalised as 
property, plant and equipment at the estimated present value of underlying lease payments.

The corresponding finance lease obligation is included within borrowings. The interest element is allocated to accounting periods during 
the lease term to reflect a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the obligation for each accounting period.

(iii) Subsequent costs
The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the cost of replacing part of such an item 
when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied with the item will flow to the Group and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.
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1. significant accounting policies continueD
(iv) depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Mining ASSetS
Processing plant three – seven years
Other plant and assay equipment two – ten years
Heavy vehicles eight years
Light vehicles three years
Land and buildings ten – twenty years
Mining properties unit of production

OtheR ASSetS
Furniture and fittings five years
Office equipment four years
Communication installations five years
Computers three years

The Group reviews the economic lives at the end of each annual reporting period.

The residual value, if not insignificant, is reassessed annually. Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with 
carrying values and are included in the income statement.

(e) deFeRRed expLORAtiOn And evALuAtiOn COStS
All costs related to the exploration of mineral properties are capitalised and deferred until either the properties are demonstrated to be 
commercially feasible (see note 1(D) (i)) or until the properties are sold, allowed to lapse or abandoned, at which time any capitalised 
costs are written off to the income statement.

All costs incurred prior to obtaining the legal right to undertake exploration and evaluation activities on a project are written off as incurred.

Exploration and evaluation costs arising following the acquisition of an exploration licence are capitalised on a project-by-project basis, pending 
determination of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project. Costs incurred include appropriate technical and administrative 
overheads but not general overheads. Deferred exploration costs are carried at historical cost less any impairment losses recognised. 

Property, plant and equipment used in the Group’s exploration activities are separately reported.

(F) tRAde And OtheR ReCeivABLeS
Trade receivables are not interest bearing and are stated at fair value at the balance sheet date.

Other receivables are not interest bearing and are stated at amortised cost at the balance sheet date.

Receivables in respect of sale of gold/copper concentrate are revalued using metal prices ruling at the balance sheet date.

Trade and other receivables are reviewed for impairment on a regular basis.

(g) CASh And CASh equivALentS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within interest bearing liabilities in current liabilities on 
the balance sheet.

(h) iMpAiRMent
Whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable an asset is reviewed 
for impairment. An asset’s carrying value is written down to its estimated recoverable amount (being the higher of the fair value less cost 
to sell and value in use) if that is less than the asset’s carrying amount.

Impairment reviews for deferred exploration and evaluation costs are carried out on a project-by-project basis, with each project 
representing a single cash-generating unit. An impairment review is undertaken when indicators of impairment arise but typically 
when one of the following circumstances applies:
(i) unexpected geological occurrences that render the resource uneconomic;
(ii) title to the asset is compromised;
(iii) variations in metal prices that render the project uneconomic; and
(iv) variations in the currency of operation.

(i) ShARe CApitAL
The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Called up share capital is recorded at par value of 10 pence per share.

Monies raised from the issue of shares in excess of par value have been recorded as Share Premium. Costs associated with the raising 
of capital have been netted off this amount.

(j) BORROwingS
Borrowings and interest bearing borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost with any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value 
recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method.
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notes to the financial statements continueD

1. significant accounting policies continueD
(k) eMpLOyee BeneFitS
(i) Share-based payment transactions
The Group issues share-based payments to certain employees, which are measured at fair value at date of grant. The fair value determined 
at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

(ii) Share options
In accordance with IFRS 2 the entity measures the goods or services received by measurement of the fair value of the share options. 
This cost is charged to the profit and loss account. The Black-Scholes method has been used to calculate this fair value. The expected 
life of the instrument used in the model is adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, 
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The entity measures the fair value of the services received by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted, because typically 
it is not possible to estimate reliably the fair value of the services received. The fair value is measured at the date of grant. Where the equity 
instruments granted do not vest immediately but after a specified number of years, the fair value is accounted for over the vesting period.

(iii) pension costs
The Group does not operate any pension plan for its employees although it does make contributions to employee pension plans in 
accordance with instructions from those employees. The Company has no contractual commitment as to the ability of those funds to 
provide any minimum level of future benefit to the individual and is contracted only to make the contributions. Company contributions 
to such schemes are charged against profits as they fall due.

(L) pROviSiOnS
Provisions are recognised when:
(i) the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
(ii) it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
(iii) the amount can be reliably estimated.

Provision for environmental remediation and decommissioning of the Group’s mining and exploration facilities has been estimated using 
current prices and discounted at a rate of 8.5%. While the provision has been based on the best estimates of future costs and economic 
life, there is uncertainty regarding the amount and timing of these costs.

(M) tRAde And OtheR pAyABLeS
Trade and other payables are not interest bearing and are stated at cost.

(n) inventORieS
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Materials held for consumption within operations are valued based on purchase price or, when manufactured internally, at cost. Costs are 
allocated on an average basis and include direct material, labour, related transportation costs and an appropriate allocation of overhead costs. 

Gold bullion and concentrate and any other production inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost will 
reflect appropriate mining, processing, transport and labour costs as well as an allocation of mine services overheads.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, after deducting the costs of marketing, selling and 
distribution to customers.

(O) Revenue
Turnover represents amounts receivable in respect of sales of gold and by-products. Turnover represents only sales for which contracts 
have been agreed and for which the product has been delivered to the purchaser in the manner set out in the contract. Turnover is stated 
net of any applicable sales taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. 
Revenues are recognised in full using prices ruling at the date of sale with adjustments in respect of final sales prices being recognised 
in the month that such adjustment is agreed. Fair value adjustments for gold prices in respect of any sale for which final pricing has not 
been agreed at any balance sheet date is accounted for at that balance sheet date. Any unsold production and in particular concentrate 
is held as inventory and valued at production cost until sold.

No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due.

All sales revenue from incidental production arising during the exploration, evaluation and development of a mineral resource prior to 
commercial production are taken as a contribution towards previously incurred costs and offset against the related asset accordingly.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest rate method.

(p) expenSeS
(i) Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(ii) Finance lease payments
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated 
to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

(iii) Net financing costs
Net financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method and interest receivable 
on funds invested. Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
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1. significant accounting policies continueD
(q) tAxAtiOn
The charge for taxation is based on the result for the year and takes into account deferred tax. Deferred tax is the tax expected to 
be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet method.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

(R) SegMentAL RepORting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services (business segment), 
or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and 
rewards that are different from those of other segments.

The Group has only one business segment, namely gold mining and exploration. This is considered to be the primary reporting segment 
for the Group. 

The Group operates in three geographic segments, namely, Brazil, the United Kingdom and Australia. This is considered to be the 
secondary reporting segment for the Group.

(S) gOOdwiLL
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest 
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. 

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is not amortised. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates. 

Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

The Board has undertaken an impairment review of goodwill and is satisfied that no impairment charge should be incurred.

(t) inveStMentS in SuBSidiARieS
Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at historical cost, less any provision for impairment.

(u) CRitiCAL ACCOunting eStiMAteS And judgeMentS
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements and assumptions about the future in the use of 
accounting estimates. These will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results and adjustments will consequently be necessary. 
Estimates are continually evaluated, based on experience and reasonable expectations of future events.

Accounting estimates are applied in determining the carrying values of significant assets and liabilities.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management has made in the process 
of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

Revenue recognition
Revenues are subject to variation after the date of sale due to assay, price and foreign exchange fluctuations. Management monitors 
these changes closely and at the end of the period the Directors will consider whether the effect of these variations is material on the 
whole and determine if an adjustment is therefore appropriate.

impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill 
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the 
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

As described in note 1(D) (iv), the Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual 
reporting period. 

(v) new ACCOunting StAndARdS
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations in force at the 
reporting date. The Group has not adopted any standards or interpretations in advance of the required implementation dates. It is not 
expected that adoption of standards or interpretations which have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, but 
have not been adopted will have a material impact on the financial statements.

During the year, the Group applied IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: disclosure’ and the capital management disclosures of IAS 1 (Revised) 
‘Presentation of financial statements’ for the first time. The disclosures required by these standards are set out in notes 18 and 22. 
There was no other effect from the adoption of these standards.
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notes to the financial statements continueD

2. segmental analysis
The Group’s primary basis of segmentation is based on business activities. The Group has only one business segment, namely gold 
mining and exploration.

The Group’s secondary segments are based on geographic segments. An analysis of activities is as follows:

Revenue
All of the Group’s revenue arises from activities in Brazil.

An analysis of total assets by location is as follows:
 Total assets employed
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

Brazil     41,952,511 31,781,243
UK     23,351,583 7,064,269
Australia     1,527,052 513,622
     66,831,146 39,359,134

During the year, the following amounts were expended on development and deferred exploration costs:
 Group
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

Brazil     5,232,039 2,808,778
UK     710,356 664,779
Australia     75,077 98,759
     6,017,472 3,572,316

During the year, the following amounts were expended on property, plant and equipment:
 Group
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

Brazil     1,992,302 4,009,104
UK     10,747 466,131
Australia     10,608 63,841
     2,013,657 4,539,076

All assets are utilised in gold mining and exploration activities.

3. statutory information
The following amounts were charged to the profit and loss account and balance sheet during the year:
 Group
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

Services provided by the auditors of the Company:
Audit fee for the Company and consolidation     48,534  63,149 
Audit of accounts of associates of the Company    63,661  116,750 
Other services relating to tax     24,738  44,906 
All other services     11,990 22,112 

Depreciation (plant and equipment)     1,530,243  1,426,004 
Depreciation (mining properties)     795,878  232,097 
Operating lease charges     60,189 69,316 

4. interest payable anD receivable
 Group
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

Interest payable on short-term trade finance     (286,447) (260,439)
Interest payable on lease obligations     (150,880) (32,386)
Other interest     (681,789) (46,503)
Interest payable     (1,119,116) (339,328)
Interest receivable on short-term deposits     586,969 120,649

Net interest     (532,147) (218,679)
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5. taxation
 Group
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

Current tax  
UK tax     — —
Foreign tax     128,086 —
Deferred tax     — —
Total     128,086 —

The tax provision for the current period varies from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30%.
The differences are explained as follows:
 Group
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax     5,207 (2,208,769)
Tax thereon at UK corporate tax rate of 30%     1,562 (662,631)
Factors affecting the tax charge:  
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes     327,750 148,058
Income not taxable     (627,393) (14,041)
Lower tax rates overseas     — 174
Unrecognised tax losses carried forward     298,081 528,440
Underprovision for foreign tax in prior periods     128,086 —
Tax charge     128,086 —

There is a potential deferred tax asset of $2.9 million (2006: $1.8 million) relating primarily to carried forward tax losses. This asset has 
not been recognised in the financial statements because of uncertainty as to the time period over which the asset may be recovered.

6. employee information
The average number of persons, including Executive Directors, employed by the Group during the year was:
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     Number Number

Management and administration     27 21
Exploration     41 55
Mine development and operations     325 314
Total     393 390

     $ $

Staff costs  
Wages and salaries      5,926,620 5,271,743
Cost of incentive scheme shares and Director shares vested     213,655 691,069
Social security costs     998,906 1,036,057
Pension contributions     84,589 347,397
Total     7,223,770 7,347,266

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out on page 23.

No company within the Group operates a pension plan for the Directors or the employees. For those Executive Directors and employees 
who have an entitlement to pension provision, the premiums are paid directly to the personal pension plans selected by the individuals. 
The Company obligation is limited to making fixed payments to these individual plans.

Serabi Mineraçao Ltda contributes via social security payments to the state pension scheme which operates in Brazil and to which all 
its employees are entitled.
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6. employee information continueD
Key management comprises the Executive and Non-executive Directors only. Their compensation is:
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

Salary and short-term employee benefits      810,145 639,324
Post employment benefits     64,871 41,743
Share-based payments     108,166 444,993
Total     983,182 1,126,060

The average number of persons employed by the Company and the associated wages and salaries expense comprises the following:
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     Number Number

Management and administration     8 6

     $ $

Staff costs
Wages and salaries     940,063 748,143
Costs of incentive scheme shares and Director shares vested    213,655 691,069
Social security costs     93,194 61,690
Pension contributions     74,304 41,743
Total     1,321,216 1,542,645

7. loss per share
The calculation of the basic loss per share of 0.10 cents (2006 loss per share: 2.04 cents) is based on the loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of $122,879 (2006 loss: $2,208,769) and on the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 124,716,130 (2006: 108,412,130) 
in issue during the period. No diluted earnings per share is presented as the effect of the exercise of share options would be to decrease the 
loss per share.

Details of share options that could potentially dilute earnings per share in future periods are set out in note 17.

8. intangible assets 
gOOdwiLL
      Group 
      $

Cost 
Balance at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007     1,752,516
Amortisation 
Balance at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007     —
Net book value at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007      1,752,516

Goodwill is considered for impairment on an annual basis. The carrying value of goodwill is dependent on the ongoing activities 
of Serabi Mineraçao Ltda. The Directors do not consider there is any impairment to the carrying value of goodwill at this time.

deveLOpMent And deFeRRed expLORAtiOn COStS
 Group  Company
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
   2007 2006 2007 2006 
   $ $ $ $

Cost    
Opening balance    6,454,074 17,420,146 418,354 1,073,225
Exploration and development expenditure (1)   6,017,472 733,298 710,356 993,200
Write-off of past exploration costs   (628,066) — (16,546) —
Exchange   1,411,178 1,423,809 — —
Transfer to tangible assets (mining property)   — (13,123,179) — (1,648,071)
Total as at end of period   13,254,658 6,454,074 1,112,164 418,354
(1) Exploration and development expenditure of the Group for 2006 is stated net of pre-operating income of $ 2,839,018.

The value of these assets is dependent on the development of mineral deposits.
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9. tangible assets
pROpeRty, pLAnt And equipMent
 Group  Company
 Land and Mining Plant and  Plant and Mining  
 buildings property equipment  equipment property  
 – at cost – at cost – at cost Total – at cost – at cost Total 
2007 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost       
Balance at  
31 December 2006  2,201,439 13,623,179 8,860,453 24,685,071 518,893 1,648,071 2,166,964
Additions — 497,425 1,516,232 2,013,657 10,747 — 10,747
Exchange 452,175 2,341,404 1,835,070 4,628,649 — — —
Disposals — — (2,131) (2,131) (2,131) — (2,131)
At 31 December 2007 2,653,614 16,462,008 12,209,624 31,325,246 527,509 1,648,071 2,175,580
Depreciation       
Balance at  
31 December 2006  (532,884) (232,097) (1,716,384) (2,481,365) (58,743) (29,148) (87,891)
Charge for period (465,745) (795,878) (1,064,498) (2,326,121) (121,562) (89,295) (210,857)
Exchange (156,049) (106,118) (425,688) (687,855) — — —
Eliminated on  
sale of asset — — 1,101 1,101 1,101 — 1,101
At 31 December 2007 (1,154,678) (1,134,093) (3,205,469) (5,494,240) (179,204) (118,443) (297,647)
Net book value at  
31 December 2007 1,498,936 15,327,915 9,004,155 25,831,006 348,305 1,529,628 1,877,933
Net book value at  
31 December 2006  1,668,555 13,391,082 7,144,069 22,203,706 460,150 1,618,923 2,079,073

Included in Property, Plant and Equipment, are assets acquired under finance leases with net book value of $2,297,532 (2006: $1,164,724). 
These assets are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. 

pROpeRty, pLAnt And equipMent
 Group  Company
 Land and Mining Plant and  Plant and Mining  
 buildings property equipment  equipment property  
 – at cost – at cost – at cost Total – at cost – at cost Total 
2006 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost       
Balance at  
31 December 2005 1,237,818 — 5,293,766 6,531,584 52,762 — 52,762
Additions 829,625 500,000 3,209,451 4,539,076 466,131 — 466,131
Transfer from  
intangible assets — 13,123,179 — 13,123,179 — 1,648,071 1,648,071
Exchange 133,996 — 508,616 642,612 — — —
Disposals — — (151,380) (151,380) — — —
At 31 December 2006 2,201,439 13,623,179 8,860,453 24,685,071 518,893 1,648,071 2,166,964
Depreciation       
Balance at  
31 December 2005 (93,446) — (674,905) (768,351) (5,960) — (5,960)
Charge for period (416,956) (232,097) (1,009,048) (1,658,101) (52,783) (29,148) (81,931)
Exchange (22,482) — (69,129) (91,611) — — —
Eliminated on  
sale of asset — — 36,698 36,698 — — —
At 31 December 2006 (532,884) (232,097) (1,716,384) (2,481,365) (58,743) (29,148) (87,891)
Net book value at  
31 December 2006 1,668,555 13,391,082 7,144,069 22,203,706 460,150 1,618,923 2,079,073
Net book value at  
31 December 2005 1,144,372 — 4,618,861 5,763,233 46,802 — 46,802

10. investments helD as fixeD assets
The Group consists of the following subsidiary undertakings:
Name Incorporated Activity % holding

Serabi Mineraçao Ltda Brazil Gold mining and exploration 100%*
Serabi Mining Ltd British Virgin Islands Investment 100%
Serabi Mining Services Pty Ltd Australia Technical services 100%
* indirectly held.

The value of these investments is dependent on the development of mineral deposits.
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11. inventories
 Group  Company
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
   2007 2006 2007 2006 
   $ $ $ $

Bullion and work in progress   948,437 918,269 — —
Consumables   2,393,517 1,523,514 — —
Inventories   3,341,954 2,441,783 — —

The replacement cost of stocks does not differ materially from the amount stated above.

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the period was $7,808,008 (2006: $3,753,583).

12. traDe anD other receivables
 Group  Company
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
   2007 2006 2007 2006 
   $ $ $ $

Current    
Trade receivables   1,817,843 1,049,735 4,486 —
Other receivables   85,609 79,095 4,242 31,537
Trade and other receivables   1,903,452 1,128,830 8,728 31,537
Prepayments   2,118,158 1,503,826 73,688 26,667
Accrued income   — 17,521 — 16,921
Prepayments and accrued income   2,118,158 1,521,347 73,688 43,588
Non-current    
Amounts owed by subsidiaries   — — 17,536,972 11,642,605
Other receivables   — — 17,536,972 11,642,605

13. cash anD cash equivalents
 Group  Company
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
   2007 2006 2007 2006 
   $ $ $ $

Cash at bank and in hand   18,629,402 3,856,878 18,526,555 2,739,201
Bank overdraft   (99,607) (65,676) — —
Cash and cash equivalents   18,529,795 3,791,202 18,526,555 2,739,201

14. traDe anD other payables
 Group  Company
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
   2007 2006 2007 2006 
   $ $ $ $

Current    
Trade payables   2,422,185 2,433,418 39,695 27,008
Other payables   653,741 945,013 — 392,331
Employee benefits   241,410 407,707 118,203 27,628
Other taxes and social security   846,302 267,606 — 13,629
Amounts due to subsidiaries   — — 409,123 409,123
Trade and other payables   4,163,638 4,053,744 567,021 869,719
Non-current    
Between one and five years    
Other taxes and social security   39,896 180,314 — —
   39,896 180,314 — —
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15. non-current provisions
COntingenCy pROviSiOn
 Group  Company
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
   2007 2006 2007 2006 
   $ $ $ $

Opening balance   299,749 428,944 — —
Provided for/(released) in year   53,468 (162,676) — —
Exchange   66,918 33,481 — —
Closing balance   420,135 299,749 — —

enviROnMentAL RehABiLitAtiOn pROviSiOn
 Group  Company
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
   2007 2006 2007 2006 
   $ $ $ $

Opening balance   500,000 — — —
Provided for in year   — 500,000 — —
Closing balance   500,000 500,000 — —
Total non-current provisions   920,135 799,749 — —

The contingency provision primarily covers claims that might be brought against Serabi Mineraçao Ltda in relation to transactions and 
contracts entered into between 2002 and the end of 2004. The Group understands that dependent on their nature, claims must be 
registered within either two years or five years of the event. The Group has released that portion of the provision that it deems is no 
longer required and will make further releases of the provision as the time period for bringing such claims expires if not already utilised.

The environmental rehabilitation provision has been established to cover any asset decommissioning and rehabilitation obligations. Such 
obligations include the dismantling of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas. The provision 
does not allow for any additional obligations expected from future developments.

Cost estimates are formally reviewed at regular intervals and the provisions are adjusted accordingly.

16. interest bearing liabilities
LeASing ARRAngeMentS
Finance leases relate to mining equipment with varying lease terms between one and three years. Following the lease periods the Group 
will own these assets. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets.

FinAnCe LeASe LiABiLitieS
 Group 
 Minimum lease payments
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

No later than one year     821,864 616,611
Later than one year and not later than five years     398,439 419,510
     1,220,303 1,036,121
Future finance charges     (103,792) (150,528)
Present value of minimum lease payments     1,116,511 885,593

 Group
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

Interest bearing liabilities – current:  
Finance leases     740,379 516,815
Bank overdraft     99,607 65,676
     839,986 582,491
Interest bearing liabilities – non-current:  
Finance leases     376,132 368,778
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17. share capital
 2007  2006
   Number £ Number £

Authorised  
Ordinary shares of 10 pence each   250,000,000 25,000,000 200,000,000 20,000,000

On 11 July 2007, the shareholders approved an increase in the authorised share capital of 50,000,000 ordinary shares of 10 pence each 
ranking pari passu with the existing Ordinary Shares.
 2007  2006
   Number $ Number $

Allotted, called up and fully paid   140,139,065 25,285,679 110,751,608 19,338,351

MOveMentS in iSSued ShARe CApitAL
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
   2007 2007 2006 2006 
   Number $ Number $

Opening balance   110,751,608 19,338,351 102,991,636 17,974,336
Issue of shares for cash   29,069,768 5,884,593 6,500,000 1,134,055
Bonus share award   — — 816,666 148,331
Exercise of options   317,689 62,735 443,306 81,629
Closing balance    140,139,065 25,285,679 110,751,608 19,338,351

During the year:

(i) 29,069,768 shares were issued for cash at 43 pence per share raising a total of £11.8 million net of expenses; and

(ii) 317,689 options were exercised raising £47,653.

OptiOnS tO SuBSCRiBe FOR ORdinARy ShAReS
pre-ipO share option plan
At the beginning of the period there were 11,000,210 options outstanding to Directors and certain employees of the Group under this plan.

All vesting conditions in respect of these options have been met by the holders.

No charge in respect of the fair value attributable to these options has been recorded in these financial statements (2006: $246,076) and 
there is no further charge to be made in future financial statements. 

pre-ipO share option plan
        Weighted Weighted 
   Options in Options Options Options Options in average average 
   issue at granted exercised lapsed issue at share price remaining life 
 Exercise Grant start of during during during end of on date of of option 
Option period price date period period period period period exercise (years)

30 Nov 05 – 01 Apr 16 £0.15 25 Apr 05 6,110,968 — 317,689 — 5,793,279 44.2p 8.25
01 Apr 06 – 01 Apr 16 £0.30 25 Apr 05 4,889,242 — — — 4,889,242  8.25
As at  
31 December 2007   11,000,210 — 317,689 — 10,682,521  8.25
Weighted average  
exercise price   21.7p — 15.0p — 21.9p
30 Nov 05 – 01 Apr 16 £0.15 25 Apr 05 6,382,621 — 271,653 — 6,110,968 36.3p 9.25
01 Apr 06 – 01 Apr 16 £0.30 25 Apr 05 5,060,895 — 171,653 — 4,889,242 46.8p 9.25
As at  
31 December 2006   11,443,516 — 443,306 — 11,000,210  9.25
Weighted average  
exercise price    21.6p — 20.8p — 21.7p  

kBC/AMBRiAn OptiOnS
Pursuant to the Company’s Initial Public Offer on 10 May 2005, the Company granted to each of KBC Peel Hunt Ltd and Ambrian Partners 
Limited as joint brokers an option to subscribe for 266,667 new ordinary shares at a price of 33 pence. Each of these options may be 
exercised at any time from 10 May 2005 to 9 May 2010. At the date of this report these options have not been exercised.
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SeRABi Mining pLC LOng-teRM inCentive pLAn 2005
The Company has in place a Long-term Incentive Plan. During the year the following options were issued under this plan. There have 
been no further issues subsequent to the year-end:
Date of Grant Number of options granted Exercise price   Exercise period(1) Fair value

18 Jan 07 1,000,000 32.25p 18 Jan 08 to 17 Jan 17 15.32p
28 Mar 07 150,000 38.40p 28 Mar 08 to 27 Mar 17 19.20p
15 Nov 07 400,000 36.85p 15 Nov 08 to 14 Nov 17 9.36p
15 Nov 07 450,000 26.40p 15 Nov 08 to 14 Nov 17 12.55p
(1)  Options are granted subject to the achievement of profits orientated performance criteria and vest in equal amounts over a three year period 

commencing on the first anniversary after the date of grant. The performance criteria are specific to each option holder.

In compliance with IFRS 2 the Company has attributed a fair value to the issue of the options and has used the Black-Scholes calculation 
method to calculate this fair value. The fair value of these options is being charged to the profit and loss account or capitalised as an 
intangible asset as appropriate over the vesting period. The following assumptions were made in the calculation of the fair value:

Risk free rate  5.75%
Volatility (based on share performance)  45.00%
Expected life of option (average)  five years

During the year a charge of $213,655 has been recorded in these financial statements in respect of these options.

AS At 31 deCeMBeR 2007 – LOng-teRM inCentive pLAn 2005
         Weighted Weighted 
    Options in Options Options Options Options in average average 
    issue at granted exercised lapsed issue at share price remaining life 
  Exercise Grant start of during during during end of on date of of option 
Option period  price date period period period period period exercise (years)

18 Jan 07 –  17 Jan 17 £0.3225 18 Jan 07 — 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000 — 8.75
28 Mar 07 –  27 Mar 17 £0.3840 28 Mar 07 — 150.000 — — 150.000 — 8.90
15 Nov 07 –  14 Nov 17 £0.3685 15 Nov 07 — 400,000 — — 400,000 — 9.55
15 Nov 07 –  14 Nov 17 £0.2640 15 Nov 07 — 450,000 — — 450,000 — 9.55
As at 31 December 2007   — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000 —
Weighted average  
exercise price   — 32.3p — — 32.3p —

18. capital management
The Group has sufficient capital to fund on-going production and exploration activities. Capital has been sourced solely through share 
issues on the London Stock Exchange and the Board manages the capital structure and aligns this with the risk profiles of its underlying 
assets. Capital requirements are reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.

19. profit anD loss account
A separate profit and loss account for Serabi Mining plc has not been prepared as permitted by the Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985. 
The loss of the Company during 2007 was $1,676,095 (2006: loss $1,242,601).

20. commitments anD contingencies
CApitAL COMMitMentS
The Group holds certain exploration prospects which require the Company to make certain payments under rental or purchase 
arrangements allowing the Company to retain the right to access and undertake exploration on these properties. Failure to meet 
these obligations could result in forfeiture of any affected prospects. 

Management estimates that the cost over the next twelve months of fulfilling the minimum contracted commitments on all the 
properties in which the Group has an interest is $541,119.

OpeRAting LeASe COMMitMentS
The Company has commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:
 Group  Company
   31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 
   2007 2006 2007 2006 
   $ $ $ $

Commitments falling due:    
Within one year    — 54,029 — 40,201
Between one year and five years   — — — —
Total   — 54,029 — 40,201

COntingenCieS
The consolidated entity maintains a credit line in Brazil, limited to BrR$200,000 that can be used for daily working capital. This credit line 
was drawn down to the value of BrR$140,449 at the balance sheet date.
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21. relateD party transactions
Other than further loans advanced to subsidiary entities of $ 5,894,367, the Company has not entered into any related party transactions 
during the year.

22. financial instruments
The Group’s financial assets at 31 December 2007 are classified as trade and other receivables and cash. All of the Group’s financial 
liabilities are classified as trade and other payables, accruals and interest bearing liabilities and are measured at amortised cost.

The Group has not entered into any derivative transactions and it is not currently the Group’s policy to undertake trading in 
financial instruments.

The main financial risks arising from the Group’s activities remain unchanged from the previous financial year namely commodity prices, 
currency, liquidity, credit and interest rates. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and these are 
summarised below:

COMMOdity pRiCe RiSk
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in commodity prices and in particular the price of gold and copper. It is not currently the Group’s 
intention to enter into any arrangements to protect itself from changes in the prices of these commodities. The Group does however 
closely monitor the prices of these commodities and will consider the use of hedging contracts, where appropriate, in future.

An analysis of the effect of a 10% movement in average commodity prices on the Group’s profit and loss and equity is as follows:
 2007
     P&L Equity 
     $’000 $’000

A 10% increase in the average commodity price     290 290
A 10% decrease in the average commodity price     (398) (398)

inteReSt RAte RiSk
The Group currently finances its operations through equity financing, has a short-term trade finance facility and fixed rate finance leases.
 

Fixed interest maturity  Weighted 
  average effective Non-interest  One year Over one to  
  interest rate bearing Floating or less five years Total 
2007  % $ $ $ $ $

Financial assets      
Cash  4.89 — 18,629,402 — — 18,629,402
Receivables  — 1,903,452 — — — 1,903,452
Total   1,903,452 18,629,402 — — 20,532,854
Financial liabilities      
Payables and accruals  — 4,290,645 — — — 4,290,645
Interest bearing liabilities  11.38 — 99,607 740,379 376,132 1,216,118
Total   4,290,645 99,607 740,379 376,132 5,506,763
 

Fixed interest maturity  Weighted 
  average effective Non-interest  One year Over one to  
  interest rate bearing Floating or less five years Total 
2006  % $ $ $ $ $

Financial assets      
Cash   4.06 — 3,856,878 — — 3,856,878
Receivables  — 1,128,830 — — — 1,128,830
Total   1,128,830 3,856,878 — — 4,985,708
Financial liabilities      
Payables and accruals  — 4,410,310 — — — 4,410,310
Interest bearing liabilities  17.00 — 65,676 516,815 368,778 951,269
Total   4,410,310 65,676 516,815 368,778 5,361,579

There is not considered to be any material interest rate risk. The Group’s policy is to retain surplus funds as short-term deposits, of up 
to four weeks duration, at prevailing market rates and to pay trade payables within their credit terms.

The fair value of all financial instruments is approximately equal to book value due to their short-term nature.

Liquidity RiSk
To date the Group has relied on shareholder funding, short-term trade finance and fixed rate finance leases to finance its operation. 
The Group maintains a credit line in Brazil through a bank agreement with a limit of BrR$200,000 that can be used for daily working 
capital. This credit line was drawn down to the value of BrR$140,449 at the balance sheet date. As the Group has cash resources and 
steady income, the liquidity risk is not significant and is managed by control over expenditure.
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22. financial instruments continueD
CuRRenCy RiSk
Although the Parent Company is incorporated in the United Kingdom its financial statements and those of the Group are denominated 
in US Dollars.

Share issues have been priced solely in Sterling. Expenditure is in US Dollars, Sterling, Euros, Australian Dollars and Brazilian Real. 

The table below shows the effect on the operating loss (before interest and other income) and equity of a 10% movement of the 
Brazilian Real against the US Dollar:
 2007  2006
   P&L (Loss on   P&L (Loss on  
   ordinary activities   ordinary activities  
   before interest   before interest  
   and other income) Equity and other income) Equity 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

10% strengthening of the Brazilian Real against the US Dollar  (2,021) 1,970 (607) 1,447
10% weakening of the Brazilian Real against the US Dollar  1,654 (1,612) 497 (1,184)

The Group’s main subsidiary operates in Brazil with its expenditure being principally in Brazilian Real and its financial statements are 
maintained in that currency. The Group’s policy for dealing with exchange differences is outlined in the statement of accounting policies 
under the heading ‘foreign currencies’.

The Group does not presently utilise swaps or forward contracts to manage its currency exposures, although such facilities are 
considered and may be used where appropriate in the future.

The Group seeks to minimise its exposure to currency risk by closely monitoring exchange rates, and holding surplus funds in currencies 
considered most appropriate to their expected future utilisation.

The Group considers book value to equal fair value.

The functional currency of the Group’s operations is US Dollars, which is also the reporting currency. The Group’s cash holdings at the 
balance sheet date were held in the following currencies:
 Group
     For the For the 
     year ended year ended 
     31 December 31 December 
     2007 2006 
     $ $

US Dollar     1,727,599 1,026,990
Sterling     16,891,589 2,733,007
Australian Dollar     7,853 96,881
Brazilian Real     2,361 —
     18,629,402 3,856,878
Brazilian Real     (99,607) (65,676)
Total     18,529,795 3,791,202

The cash is held at floating rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.

CRedit RiSk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to its cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. It is the Group’s policy to 
only deposit surplus cash with financial institutions that hold good credit ratings. Cash deposits are currently held with institutions holding 
a minimum rating of C+ as reported by Moody’s. Trade receivables are primarily due from Standard Bank plc who have been assigned 
a financial strength rating of C-BFSR by Moody’s and NV Umicore S.A., one of the major materials technology companies with a 
Net Asset Value of €1.5 billion and generating an annual turnover of €8.3 billion.

23. post balance sheet events
Between the end of the financial period and the date of these financial statements, there has been no item, transaction or event 
of material or unusual nature likely in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the entity, 
the results of these operations, or the state of affairs of the entity in future financial periods. 
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notice of meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at the offices of Numis Corporation plc, 
The London Stock Exchange Building, 10 Paternoster Square, London EC4M 7LT on 11 June 2008 at 11.00 am for the following purposes:

orDinary business
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions which will be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

1. That the Directors’ Report and financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007 be received and adopted.

2.   To re-elect William Clough as a Director. William Clough retires by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association and being 
eligible offers himself for re-election.

3.  To re-elect Roger Davey as a Director. Roger Davey retires by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association and being 
eligible offers himself for re-election.

4.  To re-appoint PKF (UK) LLP as auditors of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of the meeting to the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix the 
auditors’ remuneration.

special business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions, of which resolution 5 will be proposed as an ordinary resolution and 
resolution 6 will be proposed as a special resolution.

5.  THAT the Directors of the Company be and they are generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of Section 80 of the 
Companies Act 1985 (the ‘Act’) to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot grant options over, deal with or dispose of any 
relevant securities (as defined by Section 80(2) of the Act) of the Company up to an aggregate nominal amount of £4,610,000 
provided that this authority is for a period expiring at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, except that 
the Company may before the expiry of the authority make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to 
be allotted after the expiry of such period and the Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as 
if the authority conferred by this resolution had not expired and provided further that this authority shall be in substitution for all 
previous authorities conferred upon the Directors pursuant to Section 80 of the Act.

6.  THAT subject to the passing of the previous resolution, the Directors of the Company be and they are empowered pursuant to 
Section 95 of the Act and in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, to allot equity securities (as defined in 
Section 94 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by the previous resolution as if Section 89 of the Act did not apply 
to any such allotment provided that this power shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities:

 (a)  up to a maximum nominal amount of £1,536,700 in connection with an offer of such securities by way of rights (including without 
limitation, a rights issue, open offer or similar arrangements) to holders of equity securities in proportion (as nearly as may be 
practicable) to their respective holdings of such equity securities, but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the 
Directors may deem necessary or expedient to deal with the problems under the law of any territory or requirements of any 
regulatory body or stock exchange in any territory or in connection with fractional entitlements or shares represented by 
depository receipts or otherwise; and

 (b)  otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above, to allotments of equity securities in the Company up to an aggregate 
nominal amount equal to £768,300;

  and shall expire on the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution except that 
the Company may before the expiry of the authority make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be 
allotted after the expiry of such period and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the 
authority conferred by this resolution had not expired and provided further that this authority shall be in substitution for all previous 
authorisations conferred upon the Directors pursuant to Section 95 of the Act.

By order of the Board

clive line
COMpAny SeCRetARy
66 LinCOLn’S inn FieLdS
LOndOn wC2A 3Lh
12 MAy 2008
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notes:
1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting convened by the notice set out above is entitled to appoint a proxy (or proxies) 

to attend and to vote in his place. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.  A member may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the meeting, provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights 
attached to a different share or shares held by the member.

3.  A form of proxy is enclosed. To be effective, it must be deposited at the office of the Company’s registrars so as to be received not 
later than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting. If you subsequently want to terminate the 
authority of the proxy you must send notice to that effect to the Company’s registrars so that it is received by the Company before 
the start of the meeting. Completion of the proxy does not preclude a member from subsequently attending and voting at the 
meeting in person if he or she so wishes.

4.  The register of interests of the Directors and their families in the share capital of the Company and copies of contracts of services 
of Directors with the Company or with any of its subsidiary undertakings will be available for inspection at the registered office of the 
Company during normal business hours (Saturdays and public holidays excepted) from the date of this notice until the conclusion of 
the AGM.

5.  In accordance with Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, only those members entered on the Company’s 
register of members not later than close of business on 8 June 2008 or, if the meeting is adjourned, shareholders entered on the 
Company’s register of members not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the adjourned meeting shall be entitled to attend 
and vote at the meeting.

explanation of resolutions 5 anD 6
ReSOLutiOn 5 – AuthORity tO ALLOt ShAReS
Under the Companies Act 1985, the Directors of a Company may only allot unissued shares if authorised to do so by the shareholders 
in general meeting. Resolution 5 renews the Director’s existing authority by authorising the Directors to allot shares up to an aggregate 
nominal amount of £4,610,000. The authority will expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. This represents 46,100,000 
shares of 10 pence each in the capital of the Company (‘Ordinary Shares’) and is equivalent to approximately 30% of the Company’s 
current issued Ordinary Share capital as enlarged by the allotment of Ordinary Shares following the satisfaction of the exercise of all 
outstanding employee and other share options.

ReSOLutiOn 6 – LiMited AuthORity tO ALLOt ShAReS FOR CASh
The Directors may only allot shares for cash otherwise than on a non-preemptive basis to existing shareholders in the Company 
if authorised to do so by the shareholders in general meeting.

This resolution renews power for the Directors to allot shares for cash by first offering then to existing members up to an aggregate 
nominal value of £1,536,700. This sum represents 15,367,000 Ordinary Shares, being equivalent to approximately 10% of the Company’s 
current issued Ordinary Share Capital as enlarged by the allotment of Ordinary Shares following the satisfaction of the exercise of all 
outstanding employee and other share options. The resolution also enables the Directors to modify the strict requirements for a rights 
issue in circumstances where they consider it necessary or expedient.

This resolution also renews power for the Directors to allot shares for cash and/or sell or transfer shares held by the Company in 
treasury without first offering then to existing members up to an aggregate nominal value of £768,300. This sum represents 7,638,000 
Ordinary Shares, being equivalent to approximately 5% of the Company’s current issued Ordinary Share Capital as enlarged by 
the allotment of Ordinary Shares following the satisfaction of the exercise of all outstanding employee and other share options. 
The Directors will use such authority in the circumstances where in their opinion it is in the best interests of the Company to issue 
small amounts of shares other than to existing shareholders. The authority will expire at the date of the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company.
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glossary

Alteration  A change in the mineralogical composition of a rock commonly brought about by reactions with 
hydrothermal solutions or by pressure changes

CIP Carbon in Pulp – A process used in gold extraction by addition of cyanide

Chalcopyrite A sulphide of copper and iron

Decline Inclined roadway within the mine leading from the mine entrance

Development Excavations used to access underground workings

Dilution  The mixing of barren non-mineral bearing rock (waste) with mineral bearing rock (ore). 
Usually expressed as a percentage of ore to waste

Electromagnetics  A geophysical exploration tool measuring the magnetic field generated by subjecting the ground 
to electrical currents

Face The exposed rock area at the end of each development drive

Garimpeiro Local artisanal miners

Geochemical Geological information using measurements derived from chemical analysis

Geophysical Geological information using measurements derived from the use of magnetic and electrical readings

Gold equivalent  Quantities of materials other than gold stated in units of gold by reference to relative product values 
at prevailing market prices

Grade  The concentration of mineral within the host rock typically quoted as grams per tonne (g/t), parts 
per million (ppm) or parts per billion (ppb)

High grade feed Mined product which is delivered to the process plant and has a grade above the targeted average.

Jumbo drill rig (‘Jumbo’)  A self propelled and steered machine used to drill holes in rock which in turn will be charged with 
explosives and blasted

Level spacing The vertical distance between floors of the development drives (levels)

Long-hole stoping  A mechanical method where ore is mined out between two sub-levels by drilling a series of ‘long-holes’ 
(6–9 metres at Palito), which are subsequently charged with explosives and blasted. The broken ore is 
then loaded and moved to surface

Mineralised Rock which contains minerals e.g. iron, copper, gold

Oxides  Near surface bed-rock which has been weathered and oxidised by long-term exposure to the effects 
of water and air

Ramp Interchangeable with ‘Decline’

Saprolite A weathered or decomposed clay-rich rock

Scoop-trams Self propelled and steered machines used to collect and transport broken rock within the mine

Shrink stoping  A highly selective but labour intensive mining methodology using hand-held machines to drill and 
blast ore from the stopes

Stopes  The area of mineralised rock that lies between the roof of one development drive and the floor 
of the development drive immediately above

Stoping A generic method for extracting ore in underground mining

Strike The direction of bearing of a bed or layer of rock in the horizontal plane 

Structure  A term used to describe an area of rock typically where it shows differing composition or properties 
to the surrounding rocks

Sulphide Minerals consisting of a chemical combination of sulphur with a metal

Tailings The residual waste material that it is produced by the processing of mineralised rock

Tracked mining  A mining method where the equipment used in the mine is not self-steering and is reliant upon 
a system of metal rail-tracks to be directed within the mine

Vein A generic term to describe an occurrence of mineralised rock within an area of non mineralised rock

VTEM  The name given to a particular variant of a helicopter-borne time-domain electromagnetic geophysical 
survey system



Serabi has established the first hard-rock mining operation 
in the Tapajos region of northern Brazil. Exploiting a series 
of high-grade narrow veins, the Company is forecasting 
production of some 40,000 gold equivalent ounces 
in 2008. Near mine exploration programmes have 
been stepped up and assuming a successful outcome 
of these over the next 12 months, the Company is 
targeting future expansion of production to between 
80,000 and 100,000 ounces per annum.

An extensive portfolio of a further 267,000 hectares 
of exploration land holdings provides the platform for 
further significant growth.
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